
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device 
or Blackberry Playbook.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a 

copy in another format or language please contact: 
Teresa Buckley, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

 (1) 

 
 

Monday, 09 January 2023 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 

A meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Board will be held on 
 

Wednesday, 11 January 2023 
 

commencing at 5.30 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 
 

Members of the Board 

Councillor Douglas-Dunbar (Chairwoman) 

Councillor Atiya-Alla 

Councillor Barrand 

Councillor Brown 

Councillor Bye (Vice-Chair) 

 

Councillor Foster 

Councillor Johns 

Councillor Kennedy 

Councillor Loxton 

 

 

 

 

 

Together Torbay will thrive 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Board. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 4 - 6) 
 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 

Board held on 7 December 2022. 
 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect 

of items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting. 

 
b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on 
any potential interests they may have, they should contact 
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Climate Change Emergency Update (Pages 7 - 77) 
 To receive an update on the implementation of the Climate Change 

Emergency Actions and to consider the draft Torbay Carbon Plan 
which is currently out to public consultation. 
 
(Note:  David Edmondson, Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 
and Climate Emergency, Jacqui Warren, Climate Emergency Officer 
and Councillor Morey, Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, 
Environment and Culture have been invited to attend for this item.) 
 

6.   Exclusion of press and public  
 To consider passing a resolution to exclude the press and public 

from the meeting prior to consideration of the following item on the 
agenda on the grounds that exempt information (as defined in 



 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)) is 
likely to be disclosed. 
 

7.   Delivery of Capital Projects (Pages 78 - 88) 
 To receive an exempt update from the Senior Lawyer, Cathy 

Fleming, on the appropriateness of the inclusion of termination 
provisions in leases. 
 
To review progress on delivery of the projects within the Capital 
Programme using Red/Amber/Green (RAG) rating. 
 

8.   Review of Council Investments (To Follow) 
 To consider an exempt report on the performance of the Council’s 

investments and to make recommendations to the Cabinet. 
 

 Meeting Attendance  
 Please note that whilst the Council is no longer implementing Covid-

19 secure arrangements attendees are encouraged to sit with space 
in between other people.  Windows will be kept open to ensure good 
ventilation and therefore attendees are recommended to wear 
suitable clothing. 
 
If you have symptoms, including runny nose, sore throat, fever, new 
continuous cough and loss of taste and smell please do not come to 
the meeting. 
 

 



  
 

 

Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
 

7 December 2022 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Douglas-Dunbar (Chairwoman) 

 

Councillors Barrand, Brown, Bye (Vice-Chair), Dudley, Foster, Johns and Loxton 
 

(Also in attendance: Councillors Cowell and Law) 

 

 
25. Apologies  

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Kennedy and it was reported 
that, in accordance with the wishes of the Liberal Democrat Group, the membership of 
the Board had been amended to include Councillor Dudley in place of Councillor 
Atiya-Alla.  Apologies were also received from Councillor Steve Darling, Councillor 
Carter and Lincoln Sargeant representatives of the Safer Communities Torbay 
Partnership. 
 

26. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Board held on 9 November 2022 were confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairwoman. 
 

27. Safer Communities Torbay - Community Safety Partnership Review  
 
The Board received an update on the review of the Safer Communities Torbay – 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) from Tara Harris, Divisional Director for 
Community and Customer Services, Dave Parsons, Antisocial Behaviour and 
Vulnerability Manager, Vikki McGeough, Partnership Lead Manager, Safer 
Communities, Acting Chief Superintendent Edward Wright, Police and CSP Partner; 
and Head of Safeguarding Adults NHS Devon, Michele Thornbury, Health and CSP 
Partner, who also responded to questions on the following: 
 

 The diagrams showing the current governance structure looked very complex 
and were difficult to understand. 

 What was the timeframe for the completion of the review of the CSP. 

 What was the impact ‘on the ground’ of the work of the CSP. 

 How does the CSP link back with schools and education. 

 How was the CSP recognising individuals in need of support or intervention. 

 Were there any common threads emerging where changes were required. 

 Who chairs the CSP Board. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Overview and Scrutiny Board   Wednesday, 7 December 2022 
 

 

 Other areas governance seems to be easier to understand, what was being 
done to make our CSP governance easier to understand. 

 How does the CSP fit with the Health and Wellbeing Board and could the two 
be merged. 

 How does the CSP fit with Torbay’s Strategic Partnership (Torbay Together 
Place Board). 

 How does the CSP hear the voice of the community and local businesses. 

 What involvement does the CSP have with prevention for younger people. 

 What was classed as anti-social behaviour. 

 How does the crime data work, did it cover just Torbay residents or does it 
include every incident that happens in Torbay. 

 How do we meet the highest needs in the most effective way. 

 What support was given to local community centres by the CSP. 
 
Members requested that the two Councillor representatives (Councillors Steve Darling 
and Carter) be asked to provide a written response on how many CSP meetings they 
have attended, if they feel the meetings were useful and how they look at using the 
information gained through the work of the CSP to help inform budgets and priorities. 
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
1. that the Safer Communities Torbay - Community Safety Partnership be 

recommended: 
 

a. to be more focussed; 
b. to hear the voice of the community more; 
c. to identify clearer accountability to the community; 
d. to review its links and operations with the Health and Wellbeing Board 

and the Torbay Together Place Board and other bodies to reduce 
duplication; and 

e. to circulate a copy of the CSP updates to all councillors and the 
Members of the Overview and Board to advise the Chairwoman what 
they would like to see reported to Overview and Scrutiny on a six 
monthly basis; and 

 
2. that the Chairman of the Torbay Together Place Board be invited to a future 

meeting of the Board to explain the role and governance of the Torbay 
Together Place Board. 

 
28. Budget Monitoring Quarter 2 2022/2023  

 
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Councillor Cowell, outlined the 
submitted budget monitoring report which provided a high level budget summary of 
the Council’s forecasted revenue and capital income and expenditure for the financial 
year 2022/2023.  The report was based on figures as at the end of Quarter 2. 
 
The report predicted a draft overspend for 2022/2023 of £1.686m which included a 
new pressure of £0.5m associated with the costs of supporting the impact on Council 
services of the asylum hostel.  Members noted that no new measures were in place 

Page 5



Overview and Scrutiny Board   Wednesday, 7 December 2022 
 

 

but that the Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer continued to closely monitor 
spend.   
 
Councillor Cowell and the Deputy Head of Finance, Sean Cremer, responded to the 
following questions: 
 
 Were the 37 new homes being purchased by the Council temporary accommodation 

or social housing. 

 How long was temporary housing provided for. 

 What support was being provided to tenants in temporary housing accommodation. 

 When were the first people likely to move into 37 new properties. 

 The Finance Team were working on budgets over a four year period, when were 
historical budgets expected to be resolved. 

 With the announced winding up of the proposed tenant for the Corbyn Head 
redevelopment, what alternative options were being considered for that site. 

 Has the Council seen the impact of the cost of living on its collection fund and Council 
Tax collection rates. 

 Was there any further proposals on the redevelopment of Crossways following the 
decision to demolish the site. 

 Would adult social care funding be used towards the redevelopment of the Crossways 
site. 

 There was a large saving in concessionary bus fares does this mean we could reduce 
the budget for next year. 

 Did the concessionary bus fares funding include young people travelling to school or 
college. 

 What was the reason for the increase in income from the Crematorium. 

 What was being done to reduce costs in school transport. 

 
The Board thanked the Deputy Head of Finance for all his hard work in presenting the 
budget monitoring to Councillors and wished him well in his new job. 
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
That the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board be 
recommended to review home to school transport. 
 
 
 
 

Chairwoman 

Page 6



Update on Cabinet Response to the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Board – Interim 

Climate Change Emergency Task and Finish Report 

No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: Jan 2023 

1. that all reports to Councillors include 
enhanced information on how the 
decision will impact on climate 
change; 
 

‘Section 7 Tackling Climate Change’ of 
the Council’s report template will be 
reviewed and enhanced in line with this 
recommendation. 

Completed  

2. that, in order to achieve consistency in 
the application or our Environmental 
Policies, the Assistant Director 
Planning, Housing and Climate 
Emergency be requested to develop 
and issue a guidance document 
setting out how Policies in the Local 
Plan relating to climate change should 
be complied with.  That guidance 
should explain compliance will mean 
submitting a statement, similar to the 
design and access statement, 
explaining how the policy is being 
considered; 

The Cabinet welcomes this 
recommendation and requests the 
Assistant Director of Planning, Housing 
and Climate Emergency develop and 
issue a guidance document in respect 
of the expectations of the Planning 
Authority regarding compliance with 
policies in the Local Plan that relate to 
climate change. 

The Healthy Torbay Checklist has 
been developed and is in use within 
the Development Management 
(DM)Team. See Appendix 1.  
 
Training on the checklist and more 
detailed training on Energy 
Statements has also been provided 
to DM officers.   
 
We will review low carbon local plan 
policies in 2023. 
 
  
 

3. that the Panel would welcome a 
Cabinet Member to be responsible for 

The Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, 
Environment and Culture has naturally 

N/a  

 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 5



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: Jan 2023 

taking the lead on driving forward 
mitigations and preventative actions to 
address the climate change 
emergency; 

assumed the responsibility for the 
Climate Change Emergency given the 
services contained within his portfolio 
and has been supported by the Climate 
Change Champion, Councillor Atiya-
Alla.  The Cabinet are aware that Local 
Authorities across the country have 
adopted differing approaches where 
lead members are concerned and will 
be asking the Local Government 
Association for examples of good 
practice.  The Cabinet will then review 
the portfolio and report any changes at 
the Annual Council Meeting. 

4. that the Torbay Council draft 
consultation response to the Interim 
Devon Carbon Plan set out at 
Appendix 2 to the submitted report be 
endorsed; 

The Council’s response has been 
submitted. 

Update - The final Devon Carbon 
Plan was finalised in September 
2022. Cabinet endorsed the Plan on 
13 December 2022.  

5. that the Climate Emergency Officer be 
requested to ensure the proposed 
initial 10 key actions are prioritised to 
show the actions that will achieve the 
biggest impact at the top of the list and 
that future action plans be also 
prioritised in this way; 

This recommendation has been noted. Completed  

6. that the Climate Emergency Officer be 
requested to work with relevant lead 
officers to ensure wider publication of 
the Cosy Devon Partnership and 

With colleagues across the Council a 
comprehensive communications plan 
will be developed in order to raise 

119 properties received energy 
saving and low carbon heating 
measures through the national 
Local Authority Delivery Phase 2 

P
age 8



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: Jan 2023 

Exeter Community Energy schemes to 
ensure that Councillors and residents 
are aware of what is on offer; 

awareness of the schemes available to 
assist with energy efficiency. 

funding. This scheme has now 
ended.  
In quarter 2 of 2022 Exeter 
Community Energy (ECOE) have 
delivered the following support - 115 
in depth assessments (by 
telephone/home visit), attended 3 
events and held 17 drop in clinics. 
127 individuals have been offered 
advice at the clinic. A new 
community energy saving support 
programme  commenced in 
November with ECOE. This work 
will provide 1:1 support for 
homeowners, community clinics, 
recruit and train local energy 
champions and provide access to 
grants to help install energy. Press 
releases have also been issued 
about this support.  
 
In December, through Devon 
County Council, a Homes Upgrade 
Grant (HUG) Phase 2 bid was 
made. This will support energy 
efficiency and low carbon heating 
measures in qualifying off-gas 
homes (~600) across Devon 
(including Torbay). 
 
  

P
age 9



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: Jan 2023 

7. that the proposed approach outlined in 
the submitted report to address the 
climate change emergency and enable 
Torbay to be Carbon Neutral by 2030 
be endorsed; and 

The Cabinet will take into account the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board’s direction 
when considering and determining the 
submitted report. 

Work is ongoing to deliver  
1)the Carbon Neutral Council 
Action Plan 
 
Cabinet approved the Carbon 
Neutral Council Action Plan on 22 
March 2022. This includes plans to 
decarbonise our estate, fleet, 
various corporate functions. 
Recent progress includes the 
decarbonisation of Torbay Leisure 
Centre, the installation of heat pump 
in the Arid House of Torre Abbey 
bidding for and reaching the final 
stages of securing Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Funding to install a 
heat pump at Watcombe Nursery. 
Carbon Literacy training has 
commenced for staff (SLT and 
Cabinet received this training in 
2021). 
 
 
2)Carbon Neutral Torbay 

Programme: 

To develop the area-wide Carbon 

Neutral Torbay Action Plan, Torbay 

Council and the Torbay Climate 

Partnership spent the summer 

P
age 10



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: Jan 2023 

holding climate conversations with 

the public and key stakeholders. 

These sessions capture what local 

residents, businesses and 

stakeholders want to tackle across 

Torbay. The Torbay Climate 

Partnership has co-designed and 

drafted a new Torbay Climate 

Emergency Action Plan. See 

Appendix 2. A public consultation on 

this draft is live and seeking further 

support for the actions within the 

Action Plan. See here for more 

details (and including a quick read 

version of the Action Plan). This 

Board is invited to provide 

comments on the latest draft at the 

meeting.  

Appendix 3 is a recent members 

briefing which highlights some of the 

other actions being delivered across 

the Council and wider Torbay.  

A whole new set of pages on 

tackling the climate emergency in 

Torbay has been developed on the 

Council’s website. See here.   

P
age 11

https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/torbay-climate-emergency-action-plan/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/


No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: Jan 2023 

8. that a cross party climate change 
emergency working group be 
established to include the relevant 
Cabinet Member and other interested 
parties to take this important issue 
forward. 

The Cabinet appreciate the work 
Overview and Scrutiny have done 
during the course of the Climate 
Change Emergency Review and 
recognise that their work has concluded 
as the approach moves to delivery and 
implementation of the action plan.  The 
Cabinet are aware that across the 
country there are a number of models 
for working groups: 
 

 Lead councillors and overarching 
community group – model 
adopted by Teignbridge District 
Council; 

 Partners develop an independent 
body which is serviced by the 
Council with an Independent 
Chair making recommendations 
to Council and Partners. Bradford 
have adopted this model; 

 Separate independent 
commission – managed by 
external body and makes 
recommendations to Council.  
This model has been adopted by 
Leeds 

 
Torbay requires a model that secures 
full community participation which has 

Completed.  
The most recent meeting was on 9 
December 2022. A webpage on the 
Partnership has been established 
here  

P
age 12

https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/


No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: Jan 2023 

an emphasis on social justice in order to 
avoid carbon neutrality methods 
excluding those who are ready 
experiencing high levels of deprivation. 
 
Cabinet therefore requests officers to 
present a further report for Cabinet’s 
consideration on the different models of 
working groups, the membership, and 
terms of reference. 

 

P
age 13



   
 

1 
 

Torbay Sustainability Checklist: Major Development 

 
This checklist is intended to be used by developers, design teams, consultants and contractors. The aim of the checklist is to ensure integrated consideration 
of sustainability principles at an early stage of development proposals and allow applicants to clearly demonstrate how they have met the requirements of 
the relevant sustainability policies in the Torbay Local Plan. The checklist should be used at an early stage and accompany pre-application discussions to 
reduce costly re-design at later stages.  
 
The checklist indicates the quality of development in line with the requirements of the Torbay Local Plan through a red/amber/green approach. These work 
together across each theme and will be assessed alongside each other holistically. Each theme will be assessed by Officers in the context of other factors and 
planning considerations that may be unique to a development, allowing some flexibility in the assessment. There may be situations where certain elements 
of the checklist do not apply, for example change of use applications. The applicant is expected to provide further explanations where necessary. 
 
Proposals which demonstrate high quality sustainability standards will be afforded significant weight in planning decisions and experience a smoother 
planning process. Exemplar schemes may be shared by the Council as case studies in the Healthy Bay Supplementary Planning Document. 
 
Relevant national and local planning policies and guidance have been included in the introductory text of each section, these will be updated to reflect any 
changes should they occur. 
 

Applicants name: Click or tap here to enter text. 

Agent’s name: Click or tap here to enter text. 

Site address: Click or tap here to enter text. 

Application reference number (if known): Click or tap here to enter text. 

Description of proposal (e.g. total and types of units/floorspace): Click or tap here to enter text. 

Questionnaire prepared by (name and qualification/job title): Click or tap here to enter text. 

 

Part 1 - Active Travel & Sustainable Transport (5 questions) 

Part 2 - Sustainable Places (9 questions) 

Part 3 - Carbon Neutral Development and Responding to Climate Change (5 questions) 

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix 1



   
 

2 
 

 

Part 1: Active Travel & Sustainable Transport 

 
In 2019, travel accounted for 31% of the total carbon emissions in Torbay. Aspiration 5 of the Torbay Local Plan is to ensure Torbay mitigates and adapts to 
climate change. In order to reduce our carbon emissions new development should be designed so the use of cars is reduced, and sustainable modes of travel are 
the first choice.  
 
In addition to reducing carbon emissions, increasing the ability of people to undertake active travel increases mobility, physical activity and accessibility. Enabling 
active travel offers one of the best ways of increasing overall levels of physical activity across the whole population. A modal shift towards active travel should be 
sought so that less trips are undertaken by car resulting in improving air quality, road safety and congestion. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework Paragraphs: 92, 104, 110, 112, 113, 130  
Local Plan Policies: SS14, TA1, TA2, TA3, DE3, Appendix F 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan Policies: TH9, THW1, THW3, THW5, THW6, TTR2  
Paignton Neighbourhood Plan Policies: PNP1b, PNP1h, PNP 12 
Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan Policies: J4, BH8, T1  
Supplementary Planning Documents: Healthy Bay SPD 
Other Council Strategies: Torbay Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, Torbay Local Transport Action Plan 2021-2026, Torbay Council Highways Design 
Guide 
Government advice: Local Transport Note 1/20 (July 2020), Building for a Healthy Life 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Quality checklist 

IMPORTANT: 
- To evidence which tick box you have selected you must signpost to the relevant information within the planning 
submission (e.g. Layout Plans, Travel Plan, Waste Management Plan, Energy Statement with paragraph/page references).  
- High quality development would be expected to meet the requirements of both amber AND green. 

P
age 15

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/local-plan/local-plan/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/torquay-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/paignton-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/brixham-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/9824/healthy-torbay-spd.docx
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/roads/travel/active-travel/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/transport/local-transport-plan/local-transport-action-plan/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/18373/highways-design-guide-revision-12-july-2021.pdf
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/18373/highways-design-guide-revision-12-july-2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/951074/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf
https://www.designforhomes.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/BFL-2020-Brochure.pdf


   
 

3 
 

1 
Active Travel & 
Sustainable 
Transport 

Low Quality (does 
not meet 
requirements) 

Medium Quality 
(meets minimum 
requirement) 

High Quality 
(exceeds 
requirements) 

Explanation: 
Submission 
Document 
References: 

 
 

1a. 
 
 
 
 

Active Travel Routes – 
does the development 
take opportunity to 
include accessible 
walking/ cycling/ 
wheeling route 
connections within 
the site and does the 
development connect 
to existing and 
planned routes?  
 
See Torbay's Local 
Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan 
and discuss with the 
Local Planning 
Authority further. 
 

The proposal provides 
insufficient walking, 
wheeling and cycling 
connections and routes 
within the site and 
does not connect to 
the wider network. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposal takes 
full opportunity 
within the site to 
provide high quality 
walking, wheeling and 
cycling links which are 
coherent, direct, safe, 
comfortable and 
attractive, whilst also 
connecting to the 
wider network. 

The proposal 
significantly enhances 
cycling infrastructure 
outside the 
development boundary 
and embraces the 
design requirements of 
LTN1/20. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ 
 

☐ ☐ 

P
age 16

https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/16384/torbay-local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan-adopted.pdf
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/16384/torbay-local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan-adopted.pdf
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/16384/torbay-local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan-adopted.pdf


   
 

4 
 

1b. 

Does the 
development provide 
facilities that will 
enhance the walking, 
cycling, wheeling 
experience and 
increase the ability of 
people to undertake 
journeys by active 
travel? 
 
This includes end-to-
end journey facilities 
such as cycle parking, 
changing facilities, 
places to rest, 
appropriate way 
finding, etc.  

No or inadequate 
facilities for occupants 
of the site to support 
active travel journeys. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cycle parking 
provided as set out in 
Appendix F of the 
Torbay Local Plan, 
supported by other 
additional, 
appropriate facilities 
within the 
development to 
support people to 
undertake journeys to 
and from the site by 
walking, wheeling and 
cycling. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A significant provision 
of end-to-end journey 
facilities and 
infrastructure provided 
within the 
development to enable 
actively travel journeys 
to be desirable and the 
natural choice for a 
wide range of people 
(e.g. young and old) 
including those with 
specific additional 
needs (e.g. disability). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       Click 
or tap here to enter 
text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 17



   
 

5 
 

1c. 

Has a travel plan been 
submitted that has a 
clear set of actions for 
encouraging active 
travel / less car 
dependent 
communities? 

No or an insufficient 
travel plan (lacks detail) 
submitted. 

A travel plan has been 
submitted with 
actions to encourage 
active travel and 
provision for 
monitoring. Targets 
for modal shift are set 
appropriately to 
enable a culture of 
active travel and 
sustainable transport 
use to occur during 
the lifetime of the 
development. 

A travel plan has been 
submitted which 
includes a full range of 
measures to promote a 
natural choice shift to 
active travel and less 
car dependence.  
For example, a package 
of measures such as 
but not limited to 
support to be provided 
to new residents, 
employees, provision 
of a car club, a travel 
co-ordinator to engage 
with residents.  
A clear commitment for 
how it is going to be 
resourced, monitored 
and its progress 
reported back to the 
Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       Click 
or tap here to enter 
text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 18



   
 

6 
 

 
 
 

1d. 
 
 
 
 
 

Is the development in 
easy access of a bus 
stop/ public transport 
and have provision of 
new public transport 
facilities been 
considered? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It is not easy to access 
public transport 
(walking distance 
beyond 400 metres) 
and no betterment to 
the local public 
transport network. 

Easy public transport 
access achieved 
within/ near the 
proposal and/or 
appropriate provision 
for betterment of 
local public transport 
network agreed with 
the Local Planning 
Authority where 
necessary. 

Easy short walkable 
distance to public 
transport very close 
to/at the development 
site. Public transport 
provision significantly 
improved with wider 
benefits for the 
community outside of 
the immediate 
development site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       Click 
or tap here to enter 
text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 19



   
 

7 
 

 
 
 

1e. 
 
 
 
 

Does the proposal 
include electric 
vehicle charging 
points?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Electric vehicle 
charging not provided 
or provided below 
requirements set out in 
the Torbay Local Plan. 

Meets Local Plan 
requirements for 
electric vehicle 
charging (see 
Appendix F of the 
Torbay Local Plan). 

Significantly above the 
minimum requirements 
in the local plan such 
as:  
- significantly more 
electric charging points 
than stated in the Local 
Plan, and/or; 
 
- the provision of rapid 
charging infrastructure, 
and/or;  
 
- on street provision of 
electric charging, 
available to the wider 
community 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       Click 
or tap here to enter 
text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 20



   
 

8 
 

 

Part 2: Sustainable Places 

 
Consideration should be given to the impact of development activity on green infrastructure, bearing in mind its benefits both in terms of climate change 
mitigation through CO2 sequestration and climate change adaptation through; better surface water drainage, cooling of the local environment, and shading of 
built surfaces that might otherwise be vulnerable to overheating on account of exposure to the sun. Developments should provide an appropriate quality, 
quantity and variety of open space, including new and enhanced existing open green space, allotments, community gyms, leisure and recreation facilities to 
achieve better health and well-being for the population. The net loss of green infrastructure should be avoided or at least minimized and mitigated. 
 
 
National Planning Policy Framework Paragraphs: 92, 93, 98,120,  130, 131 
Local Plan Policies: SS2, SS14, SC3, W1, W2, TA1, DE1, DE3, ER2, ER1, ER3 SS8, SS9, C4, NC1, SC4 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan Policies: TE4, TE5 
Paignton Neighbourhood Plan Policies: PNP1a, PNP1c, PNP1f, PNP1i, PNP1ii, PNP1v, PNP15 
Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan Policies: E7, E8, S&L2 
Supplementary Planning Documents: Healthy Bay SPD, Torbay Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD, Torbay Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan, 
Torbay Greenspace Strategy 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Quality checklist 

IMPORTANT: 
- To evidence which tick box you have selected you must signpost to the relevant information within the planning 
submission (e.g. Layout Plans, Travel Plan, Waste Management Plan, Energy Statement with paragraph/page references).  
- High quality development would be expected to meet the requirements of both amber AND green. 

P
age 21

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/local-plan/local-plan/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/torquay-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/paignton-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/brixham-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/9824/healthy-torbay-spd.docx
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/local-plan/spd/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/7000/torbay-green-infrastructure-delivery-plan.pdf
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/local-plan/spd/


   
 

9 
 

2 Sustainable places 

 
Low Quality (does 
not meet 
requirements) 
 

Medium Quality 
(meets minimum 
requirement) 

High Quality 
(exceeds 
requirements) 

Explanation: 
Submission 
Document 
References: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Does the proposal 
minimise the 
generation of waste 
throughout the 
lifetime of the 
development? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

No evidence of 
consideration of the 
waste hierarchy, no 
storage facilities for 
waste collection. 

Waste management 
plan submitted 
demonstrating waste 
hierarchy adhered to 
during the 
construction and 
operational phases of 
development (policies 
W1 and W2) and 
meeting locally 
specified 
requirements of the 
local authority, 
adequate storage 
facilities for recycling 
bins/ boxes provided 
in curtilage of 
development. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Waste management 
plan is comprehensive 
covering the 
generation, use and 
disposal of waste in 
accordance with the 
waste hierarchy. 
Specific targets are set 
to significantly limit 
waste generation and 
to encourage 
behaviour change. 
greenhouse gas 
impacts of waste 
proposals have been 
investigated and 
managed in accordance 
with achieving a low 
carbon development. 
 

Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 22



   
 

10 
 

 
 

2b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Are there 
opportunities for local 
labour to be utilised 
during construction 
and the lifetime of the 
proposal? 

Opportunities for local 
labour and 
employment have not 
been considered 
throughout the lifetime 
of the development. 
 
 

The use of local 
labour and provision 
of local employment 
is encouraged by the 
development 
proposal throughout 
its lifetime. 

Specific agreements 
have been put in place 
such as local training 
arrangements or 
apprenticeships to 
generate significant 
opportunities for local 
people to work. 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:     
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

 
 

2c. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Has a sustainable 
approach influenced 
the choice of 
materials and 
construction 
techniques? 

No or insufficient 
information provided 
demonstrating 
consideration of the 
embodied carbon/ 
sustainability of 
construction methods 
and materials chosen. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate how a 
low carbon/ 
sustainable approach 
has significantly 
influenced the choice 
of materials/ 
construction 
methods. 

The strategy for use of 
materials/ construction 
methods has clearly 
prioritised use of low 
carbon/ sustainable 
materials to its full 
potential (see Net Zero 
Carbon Toolkit). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 23



   
 

11 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2d. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Have the 
opportunities for 
green infrastructure 
been maximised? To 
what degree does the 
layout design and 
strategy for the new 
development adopt 
green infrastructure? 

No additional green 
infrastructure 
provisions, little to no 
evidence of the 
consideration of green 
infrastructure within 
the site layout, design 
and strategy. 

Clear evidence of how 
the design strategy 
for the development 
has been informed by 
the protection and 
enhancement of 
nature. The proposal 
includes provision of 
new, and protection 
and enhancement of 
existing green 
infrastructure and is 
appropriate to the 
scale and nature of 
the development, as 
discussed with the 
Local Planning 
Authority. A clear 
commitment for how 
the green spaces on 
the site are going to 
be maintained and 
monitored has been 
submitted to the local 
planning authority. 
 
 
 
 

Green infrastructure is 
central to the design of 
the scheme and 
innovative approaches 
to green infrastructure 
delivery have been 
demonstrated. The 
proposal includes 
significant increases in 
provisions of green 
infrastructure forming 
a network throughout 
the site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 24



   
 

12 
 

2e. 

Does the proposal 
demonstrate 
biodiversity net gain 
(using the latest 
national metric) 
secured for a 
minimum of 30 years? 

below 10% BNG 10-15% BNG  
 

over 15% BNG 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:     
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2f. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Does the proposal 
take full opportunity 
to conserve and 
enhance biodiversity 
(and geodiversity if 
applicable)? 

No clear evidence that 
the mitigation 
hierarchy (avoid, 
mitigate, compensate) 
has been followed. No 
biodiversity or 
geological strategy 
provided. 

Mitigation hierarchy 
in relation to geology, 
protected species and 
biodiversity followed, 
plus biodiversity 
enhancements 
provided. 

Mitigation hierarchy 
followed plus 
maximising the 
potential of the site to 
provide a full range of 
biodiversity and 
geodiversity 
enhancements. 
For example: all 
buildings to include bat 
boxes, bird nesting 
boxes, bee bricks, swift 
terraces, hedgehog 
holes in all fences, 
native hedge planting 
for boundaries rather 
than wooden fences. 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:      
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 25



   
 

13 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2g. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Does the proposal 
reduce the overall risk 
of flooding in the site 
area and beyond? 

No evidence provided 
demonstrating that 
flooding / surface 
water run-off has been 
considered or the 
drainage hierarchy has 
been followed. 

Flood risk assessment 
submitted which 
demonstrates how 
the risk of all forms of 
flooding has been 
considered and 
mitigated where 
necessary. Drainage 
hierarchy adhered to. 
Surface water 
drainage complies 
with the 
requirements of the 
Torbay Critical 
Drainage Area. 

The proposed surface 
water drainage system 
complies with the 
Torbay Critical 
Drainage Area 
requirements. 
Consistent with the 
drainage hierarchy, 
Sustainable Urban 
Drainage measures 
focused on achieving 
whole-site infiltration 
led surface water 
management have 
been maximised 
throughout the site 
which includes the full 
use of green 
infrastructure/ 
landscape measures to 
reduce flooding and 
surface water run-off. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:        
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 26



   
 

14 
 

 
 
 
 

2h. 

Does the proposal 
include measures for 
the conservation 
and/or recycling of 
water? 

No evidence supplied 
demonstrating how the 
proposal includes 
measures to conserve 
and recycle water. 

Measures have been 
provided to conserve 
and recycle water. 

Development 
demonstrates it has 
maximised the 
potential for water 
conservation and 
reuse/ recycling 
through multiple 
measures throughout 
the design of the 
development. 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:        
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2i. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Does the proposal 
include provision for 
sustainable food 
production? 

No provision for 
sustainable food 
production on site. 
Where relevant, loss of 
grade 1, 2 or 3a 
agricultural land with 
lack of overriding 
justification. 
 

Options for 
sustainable food 
production explored 
and incorporated 
where possible. 
Residential 
development of 30+ 
units includes 
sustainable food 
production within the 
site. 

Sustainable food 
production included 
throughout the 
development and 
available for the use by 
a wide range of users/ 
occupants. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 27



   
 

15 
 

 

Part 3: Carbon Neutral Development and Responding to Climate Change 

 
Our planet’s climate is changing and warming at an accelerating rate. If we are to protect future generations from the most serious risks of climate change we 
must take decisive action now to reduce emissions and ensure development is resilient to our future climate. If we wait for the impacts to happen, it will already 
be too late. Torbay Council declared a climate emergency in 2019 and committed to working towards a carbon neutral Torbay by 2030. All new developments will 
need to show how they plan to support this target.  
 
Heating and powering our homes was responsible for 42% of Torbay's carbon emissions in 2019. Heating and powering Torbay's industry and commercial sector 
was responsible for 20%. All development proposals should consider ways of minimising carbon emissions emitted as a result of the development process, 
including the ultimate removal or demolition of the development. Might need to expand to make clear we are talking about embodied energy including materials  
 
National Planning Policy Framework Paragraphs: 152, 157, 159, 167, 169, 171, 172 
Local Plan Policies: SS14, ES1, ES2, DE1 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan Policies: 
Paignton Neighbourhood Plan Policies: PNP1d, PNP1f  
Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan Policies: BH7  
Supplementary Planning Documents: Healthy Bay SPD 
Other Council Strategies: Energy and Climate Change Strategy; Carbon Neutral Council Action Plan 
Additional Resources: BREEAM, LETI climate emergency design guide, RIBA climate action design guide, Passivhaus 

 
 

 

 Quality checklist 

IMPORTANT: 
- To evidence which tick box you have selected you must signpost to the relevant information within the planning 
submission (e.g. Layout Plans, Travel Plan, Waste Management Plan, Energy Statement with paragraph/page references).  
- High quality development would be expected to meet the requirements of both amber AND green. 

P
age 28

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/local-plan/local-plan/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/torquay-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/paignton-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/neighbourhood-plans/brixham-np/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/9824/healthy-torbay-spd.docx
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/environmental/climate-change-strategy/#:~:text=Energy%20and%20Climate%20Change%20Strategy%20for%20Torbay,-1.1&text=The%20responsibility%20of%20making%20Torbay,and%20low%20carbon%20energy%20generation.
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/environmental/carbon-neutral/
https://www.breeam.com/
https://www.leti.uk/cedg
file:///C:/Users/endc131/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/I4E7VCW6/RIBA%20climate%20action%20design%20guide,
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/what_is_passivhaus.php#2


   
 

16 
 

3 
Carbon Neutral and 
Responding to 
Climate Change 

Low Quality (does not 
meet requirements) 

Medium Quality 
(meets minimum 
requirement) 

High Quality (exceeds 
requirements) 

Explanation: 
 

Submission Document 
References: 

3a. 

What approach has 
been taken for any 
existing buildings and 
materials on the site? 
 
 

Demolish without 
providing evidence that 
re-use of the building 
has been considered in 
the first instance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Re-use of existing 
buildings and 
materials on the site 
has been carefully 
considered at an early 
stage of the scheme 
design and this is 
evidenced clearly. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Re-use of buildings 
including retrofitting of 
energy efficient 
measures is evident 
within the scheme 
design. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 29



   
 

17 
 

3b. 

Has a low carbon 
approach been taken 
to the proposal, 
informed by the 
energy hierarchy? 
(maximising 
opportunities to: 1. 
reduce energy 
demand; 2. use 
energy efficiently; 3. 
incorporate 
decentralised energy; 
4. incorporate 
renewable energy) 

Energy statement does 
not include clear 
evidence to 
demonstrate that a low 
carbon approach has 
been adhered to using 
the energy hierarchy. 

Submission of an 
energy statement 
which demonstrates 
how a low carbon 
approach has 
influenced the design 
of development in 
terms of orientation, 
layout, use and 
design. Part L of 
Building Regulations 
are met or exceeded. 
 
(Note that the 
requirements for 
meeting Part L have 
been significantly 
raised from 15 June 
2022. This will impact 
the design of all new 
dwellings.) 

A significant 
improvement beyond 
the requirements of 
Part L to create very 
energy efficient 
buildings with low 
operational energy and 
space heating 
demands. The 
provision of on-site 
energy systems 
designed to further 
reduce the carbon 
footprint may also be 
included. 
Use of recognised 
building assessment 
methods, e.g. 
Passivhaus and 
BREEAM may be used. 
 
The energy 
performance of the 
building will be 
monitored following its 
occupation to ensure 
that as designed 
performance meets as 
built performance. 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       Click 
or tap here to enter 
text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 30



   
 

18 
 

3c. 

Does the proposal 
include on-site 
renewable energy to 
further reduce carbon 
emissions? 

No or insufficient 
evidence 
demonstrating how the 
potential opportunities 
to deliver renewable 
technologies have been 
maximised on-site. 
 

Evidence has been 
provided showing 
how opportunities to 
deliver renewable 
technologies have 
been maximised and 
are provided as part 
of the development. 

Renewable energy 
plays a significant role 
in radically reducing 
the requirements for 
energy use on-site 
(whilst also following 
the energy hierarchy) 
for example very low or 
no requirements for 
fossil fuel-based 
heating on-site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:        
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 31



   
 

19 
 

3d. 

Is the scheme 
designed to be 
considerate and 
appropriately resilient 
to climate impacts? 

No or insufficient 
evidence of 
consideration of 
current and future 
climate impacts. 

A clear strategy/ 
sustainability 
statement is provided 
demonstrating how 
the scheme has been 
designed to cope with 
current and future 
climate impacts in 
Torbay. 
 
For example, dealing 
with the impact of 
summertime 
overheating without 
resorting to use of 
mechanical 
ventilation systems. 

Clear analysis of a 
range of issues is 
incorporated into the 
design of the 
development in the 
context of climate 
impacts and is 
evidenced.  
 
For instance, the use of 
thermal modelling, 
measures to conserve 
water and/or the 
careful consideration of 
the needs of vulnerable 
groups of occupants for 
instance older/younger 
people. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 32



   
 

20 
 

3e. 

Is the building 
designed to offer 
flexibility for different 
uses in the future e.g. 
allow later 
conversion/ 
adaptation to save 
embodied energy 
which would 
otherwise be lost 
through demolition? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The scheme is likely to 
have a short 
operational lifetime 
and flexibility for future 
uses is not considered. 

The scheme is likely 
to offer a very long 
operational lifetime 
without the need for 
demolition or 
conversion to be 
required at a later 
date. 

The scheme has been 
designed in such a way 
as to offer flexibility 
and the potential for 
straightforward change 
of use in the future 
through conversion.  
 
The scheme may offer, 
through its design and 
layout, elements which 
enhance the flexibility 
of space within the 
building proposed for 
the existing use (e.g. 
multifunctional room 
space). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation:  
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

Submission Document 
References:       
Click or tap here to 
enter text. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

  

P
age 33



  

 
Torbay Climate Emergency 
Action Plan 
 
Consultation Draft  
2023 - 2025  

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



  

2 

Contents 

Foreword......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Background .................................................................................................................................... 7 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 11 

Co-developing the Torbay Climate Emergency Action Plan ....................................................... 13 

Torbay’s emissions and achieving carbon neutral by 2030 ........................................................ 14 

The Local Benefits ....................................................................................................................... 17 

Torbay Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023 - 2025 ................................................................ 18 

Our Priorities ................................................................................................................................ 20 

Built Environment ........................................................................................................................ 20 

Power ............................................................................................................................................ 23 

Transport ...................................................................................................................................... 26 

Waste Minimisation and Food .................................................................................................... 28 

Nature Based Solutions............................................................................................................... 30 

Clean Growth and Sustainable Businesses .............................................................................. 32 

Cross Cutting Themes ................................................................................................................. 33 

Behaviour Change, Education, and Community Engagement ................................................. 33 

Climate Adaptation and Building Community Resilience ........................................................ 35 

Summary of Top 25 Actions ........................................................................................................ 36 

What Can I Do ............................................................................................................................... 39 

What Organisations Can Do ........................................................................................................ 39 

Funding The Transition ............................................................................................................... 39 

Measuring Success ..................................................................................................................... 39 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 35



  

3 

Foreword  

We are in a climate emergency and need to globally reduce carbon emissions 

rapidly to maximise the chance of keeping the rise in global temperatures 

below 1.5°C and avoiding catastrophic climate change. Such a temperature 

rise may not sound like a big issue, or an issue that will greatly affect us here 

in Torbay, but as our climate changes we can already see noticeable negative 

impacts across our communities.  

As temperatures rise we are likely to see more extreme weather events and 

more likely to experience other negative impacts like increased heat-related illnesses and 

increased risks to local biodiversity. We may also experience the impacts of more flooding on our 

homes, our buildings, and our local infrastructure with consequent disruption to tourism and 

business.  

To help tackle these challenges, the Torbay Climate Partnership has developed, with contributions 

from a range of partners, a two-year plan to start to reduce Torbay’s carbon emissions and work 

towards Torbay becoming carbon neutral by 2030.  

Making this plan a reality will mean energising everyone across Torbay to play their part. For 

example it will mean working together to make homes warmer, healthy and zero emission; helping 

businesses to save energy, water and waste; regenerating our towns with more safe walking and 

cycling opportunities, reducing waste and installing more public electric charging points. It will also 

mean that we better prepare for changes in our climate and that we protect and enhance our 

coasts and countryside so that they can help us store carbon.  

It can sometimes feel like an overwhelming challenge to make a difference on this global issue. 

But we can. Every action matters and we can all start somewhere. We must all start now.  

 

Dennis Flynn  

Chair of the Torbay Climate Partnership 

The Torbay Climate is a group of partners striving to accelerate action to tackle the climate 

emergency in Torbay and includes:  

     

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

  

 

The full list is available here. 

 

Page 36

https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/torbay-climate-partnership/


  

4 

Executive Summary 

Torbay declared a climate emergency in 2019. This means a situation in which urgent action is 

required to reduce or halt climate change and avoid potentially irreversible environmental damage 

resulting from it. To tackle the climate emergency locally the Torbay Climate Partnership have 

developed this Torbay Climate Emergency Action Plan. It is a two-year plan to help the whole of 

Torbay work towards becoming carbon neutral1 by 2030.  

Torbay needs to take rapid action and play its part. We are already seeing the negative impacts of 

a changing climate.  

Some actions needed will have to be delivered centrally by Government, however, many actions 

can be influenced and delivered locally.  

This plan focuses on what we can do in Torbay to play our part in tackling the climate emergency 

over the next two years.  

To gain an understanding of what Torbay’s residents and businesses want to do to help tackle the 

climate emergency, the Torbay Climate Partnership held a series of climate conversations and 

surveyed businesses to co-develop actions for this action plan. This action plan also includes a 

range of immediate priorities that the University of Exeter’s Net Zero Torbay Report recommended 

Torbay take. 

Here is a summary of the Torbay Climate Emergency Action Plan: 

The vision 

To work together towards creating a thriving resilient carbon neutral Torbay by 

2030   

 

Objectives  

The objectives for this plan are: 

1. High take-up of energy-efficiency measures, renewable energy and low-carbon heating 

technologies in all homes and business premises 

2. Carbon neutral new buildings  

3. Reduce the need to travel and shift to sustainable transport options 

4. Use technology to reduce emissions from vehicles 

5. Avoid waste 

6. Maximise carbon storage in the environment 

7. Transition our power sector to renewables  

8. Support businesses to transition to carbon neutral 

9. Build a climate resilient Torbay 

10. Communicate action to tackle climate change locally 

 

 

 

1 This means taking as much carbon dioxide gases out of the atmosphere as we put in. We will reduce Torbay’s carbon emissions to as near to 

zero as possible locally. Where residual emissions exist, these will be balanced by removals from the atmosphere Page 37



  

5 

This Action Plan focusses on working towards reducing carbon emissions from the:  

 

1. Built Environment  

2. Power 

3. Transport   

4. Waste minimisation and food 

5. Nature based solutions 

6. Clean growth and sustainable businesses 

7. A range of cross-cutting themes, including communication 

 

Actions  

Over 100 actions form this Action Plan. All have local partners that will help explore and deliver the 

actions. The full list is detailed in Appendix 1 - List of actions in the Torbay Climate Emergency 

Action Plan (separate document). 

Appendix 1. A summary is outlined below:  

▪ Roll out energy saving clinics, community talks, recruit, and train 10 'Community Energy 

Champions' and over 200 home visits 

▪ Develop projects to help more homes to save energy through installing energy efficiency and 

low carbon measures 

▪ Strengthen planning requirements to make new developments net zero operational carbon with 

EV charging points   

▪ Develop support for small businesses to help them save money, through saving carbon, 

energy waste and water 

▪ Invest in sustainable travel options including more cycling, wheeling, and walking routes 

▪ Roll out public electric charging points in Torbay 

▪ Explore more local community-based waste minimisation projects and local growing projects 

▪ Help store carbon by protecting our local sea grasses 

▪ Develop a green tourism award  

▪ Deliver more local campaigns to encourage sustainable lifestyles 

These actions will also help to create a nice place to live and work now and in the future, one 

where Torbay is thriving. 

Measuring success  

This plan aims to set Torbay on an accelerated path towards carbon neutral by 2030.  It is a two-

year plan. Subsequent plans will be developed all the way up to 2030.  

The Torbay Climate Partnership will monitor this action plan.  

To make sure progress is being made between now and 2030 a basket of data sets and interim 

targets are being developed by the University of Exeter. An addendum to this action plan will be 

issued in January 2023 outlining these proposed targets. 

  

 

 

Page 38



  

6 

  

Page 39



  

7 

Background 

Our planet’s climate is changing, and warming is accelerating. Globally, 2010-2019 was the 

warmest decade since records began in 1850, and each decade since 1980 has been warmer 

than the preceding one2. 2020 and 2016 tie as the warmest years on record, which were 1.1°C 

above pre-industrial levels3. 

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has concluded it is unequivocal that emissions 

of greenhouse gases (GHG) by humans have warmed the atmosphere4. The greenhouse effect 

occurs when GHGs in the atmosphere, such as carbon dioxide and methane, form a layer around 

the planet which traps some of the sun’s heat. This process makes the Earth warmer and over the 

last 12,000 years has allowed humanity to thrive.  

However, the burning of fossil fuels, deforestation and intensive agriculture have been changing 

the balance of the greenhouse effect by unnaturally increasing the levels of GHGs in the 

atmosphere. The increased levels of GHGs mean more heat is being trapped, causing our planet 

to warm at an unprecedented rate5. Carbon dioxide released from burning fossil fuels is the main 

source of man-made GHGs. 

This warming is causing more extreme storms, droughts, heat waves, melting ice, ocean 

acidification and rising sea levels. The impacts of these changes are widespread. See figure 1 

below.  

Figure 1. Impacts of climate change. (Source: MET Office City Pack – Torbay 2022) 

 

 

 

2 World Meteorological Organisation (2020) WMO Statement on the State of the Global Climate in 2019, WMO, Geneva, Switzerland. Available 

at: https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=10211 
3 NASA (2021) 2020 Tied for Warmest Year on Record. https://www.nasa.gov/press-release/2020-tied-for-warmest-year-on-record-nasa-analysis-shows 
4 IPCC (2021) Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment 
Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V. et al. (eds)] Available 
at: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGI_SPM.pdf 
5 IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp. Available 
at: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/syr/ Page 40

https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=10211
https://www.nasa.gov/press-release/2020-tied-for-warmest-year-on-record-nasa-analysis-shows
https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGI_SPM.pdf
https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/syr/


  

8 

 

Climate change in the UK and Torbay  

The UK’s warmest ten years ever recorded have all been since 20026. The hottest ever recorded 
temperature of 40.3°C occurred in July 2022, smashing the previous record of 38.7°C observed in 
20197 which also saw: 

• the warmest winter temperature  
• the warmest December temperature  
• the warmest February temperature 
• the highest minimum February temperature. 

Relative sea level in southwest England has risen by 25cm since 19168. 

        
Figure 2. How Torbay’s climate has warmed. (Source: MET Office City Pack – Torbay 2022) 

Torbay is warming too. The stripes above in Figure 2 show how temperatures in Torbay have 

increased, with many of the hottest years occurring in the last few decades.  

Impacts on Torbay 

Case Study: Storm Emma  

As our climate warms the sea level rises. This is mainly because of the melting of snow, glaciers, 

and ice caps.    

Sea level rise is likely to have severe impacts on Torbay. This was exemplified in 2018, when 

Torbay was hit by Storm Emma between late February and early March. During this storm event a 

combination of extremely high spring tides, which overtopped sea defences around the bay, and 

strong easterly winds caused extensive flooding and damage to coastal defences.  

18 residential properties were reported to suffer from internal flooding during the storm and 4 

properties reported external flooding. Storm damage and flooding was also reported to 

businesses, buildings, beach huts, highways, parks, amenities, tourism infrastructure, Paignton 

Pier, and Harbour Infrastructure. It is estimated that the storm caused over 3 million pounds worth 

 

 

6  Kendon, M. et al. (2019) State of the UK Climate 2018.International Journal of Climatology, 39 (S1), pp.1-55. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.6213 
7 Met Office (2022) A milestone in UK climate history  
8 UK Climate Impacts Programme (2018) UKCP2018. UKCIP. Available at: http://ukclimateprojections.metoffice.gov.uk/ Page 41

https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.6213
http://ukclimateprojections.metoffice.gov.uk/


  

9 

of damage. As Torbay relies on tourism for its economy, coastal flooding of this nature has a 

significant economic impact on the area.  

 

Climate Projections  

If we continue emitting GHG emissions as if it’s “business as usual”, by the end of the 21st century 

the estimated change of Devon’s average summer temperature is projected to increase by 5.6°C 

and average winter temperature by 3.4°C in comparison to the 1961-1990 average. Compared to 

the same period, average winter precipitation is projected to increase by 28 percent whereas 

average summer precipitation is forecast to decrease by 44 percent.  

Sea level is predicted to rise by over 1 metre in Torbay over the next 100 years, this will increase 

the frequency and impact of sea defence overtopping, resulting in more infrastructure and 

properties being affected by flooding. Currently during storms like Storm Emma, up to 90 

residential properties and just over 120 commercial properties are at risk of flooding. The Torbay 

Coastal Defences report estimates that, with another 50 years of climate change, the total number 

of properties at risk of flooding would be 352 unless coastal defences are improved. 

Figure 3 shows the predicted impact of flooding over the next 50 years for Paignton and Preston. 

On top of that, more intense rainfall will increase the risk of localised flooding and erosion. 

As the climate continues to change, the scale and frequency of impacts will increase and, although 

these changes may not affect everyone directly, the knock-on effects from them will be 

substantially larger and are likely to disrupt our current quality of life.  

 

Figure 3. predicted impact of flooding over the next 50 years for Paignton and Preston Source: Torbay Council and 
University of Exeter 2021) 

The climate adaptation section of this action plan includes a range of actions to reduce climate 
risks. 

International, national and regional action 

The science is clear: we are in a climate emergency and need to reduce carbon emissions rapidly. 

In December 2015, as part of the landmark Paris Agreement, almost 200 countries agreed to cut 

greenhouse gas emissions and to attempt to limit the rise in global temperatures to less than 2 

degrees centigrade (°C) above pre-industrial levels by 2100, and to pursue efforts to limit the 

Page 42



  

10 

temperature increase to 1.5°C. Recent annual United Nations climate change conferences (COP 

26 and COP 27) are striving to keep the goal of global temperatures from rising more than 1.5 

degrees alive.  

In June 2019, the UK Government committed to cut the UK’s greenhouse gas emissions and 

become net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. This is a legally bidding target that will 

require emissions from homes, transport, farming, and industry to be cut completely and where 

this cannot be achieved, offset by planting trees or sucking emissions out of the atmosphere. In 

December 2020, the Government furthered its ambitions and pledged to reduce UK greenhouse 

gas emissions by 68 percent by 2030, excluding international aviation and shipping. A range of 

strategies have been developed to outline how to achieve this including the Net Zero Strategy, 

Road to net Zero Strategy and Heat and Buildings Strategy. UK emissions are now almost half (47 

percent) their 1990 levels. Emissions rose 4% in 2021 as the economy began to recover from 

COVID-19 but were still 10 percent below 2019 levels9. Further progress must be led by 

Government policies. The Government’s own climate advisors, The Climate Change Committee, 

in their 2022 report, state that the Government’s current programmes will not deliver net zero by 

205010.  However, according to the CCC, net zero by 2050 can be achieved.  

To avoid the catastrophic impacts of climate change, globally, Governments are now trying to limit 

global temperatures warming to 1.5 degree Celsius above pre-industrial times by the end of the 

century. Delaying action and not dramatically decreasing carbon dioxide emissions and other 

greenhouse gases will lead to global temperatures exceeding this target, which will have more 

catastrophic consequences.  

Devon Carbon Plan  

Torbay Council has been working with the Devon Climate Emergency Response Group to oversee 

the development of a Devon Carbon Plan.  

The Plan is the roadmap for how Devon will reach net-zero emissions 11by 2050 (at the latest) with 

an interim target of 50 percent reduction by 2030. The Plan consists of 8 objectives covering a 

range of themes including transport, built environment, food, land and sea, energy supply, 

economy, and resource. A series of actions per sector are identified to be delivered by a range of 

partners, residents, and businesses. The Devon Carbon Plan (and a number of quick reads) can 

be accessed from the Devon Climate Emergency website here. 

As part of the development of this draft action plan, the Devon Carbon Plan actions have been 

assessed and included where they are also a local priority.  

  

 

 

9 Current programmes will not deliver Net Zero - Climate Change Committee (theccc.org.uk) 
10 Current programmes will not deliver Net Zero - Climate Change Committee (theccc.org.uk) 
11 Net Zero target requires deep reductions in emissions, with any remaining sources being removed from the atmosphere with greenhouse gas 

removals.  Page 43

https://devonclimateemergency.org.uk/devon-carbon-plan/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/2022/06/29/current-programmes-will-not-deliver-net-zero/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/2022/06/29/current-programmes-will-not-deliver-net-zero/


  

11 

Introduction  

Local context  

Torbay is on a journey to reduce emissions and become carbon neural by 2030. This is our 

journey so far.  

 

Figure 5 Torbay’s climate emergency journey so far 

In 2019 Torbay Council declared a climate emergency12 and committed Torbay to work towards 

becoming carbon neutral by 2030. Following this, Torbay Council adopted tackling climate change 

as one of its four key visions as outlined in the Community and Corporate Plan (2019-2023). 

The Net Zero Torbay report by the University of Exeter was commissioned in 2020 to help inform 

how Torbay should prioritise actions to work towards becoming carbon neutral (see below for 

more details).  

In 2021 an Initial Carbon Neutral Torbay Action Plan was developed. This was developed by 

Torbay Council and partners to accelerate climate action in 2021 and 2022. It focusses on 10 key 

actions including delivering two solar farms, installing new walking and cycling infrastructure, 

providing hundreds of homes with advice and support to make homes energy efficient, 

decarbonising Torbay Leisure Centre, planting 300 trees and retrofitting homes with new low 

carbon heating. These are just some of the actions already happening across Torbay. This new 

action plan will replace this documents once finalised. 

 

Case Study: Torbay Leisure Centre Decarbonisation Project 

Torbay Council and Parkwood Leisure received Public Sector Decarbonisation grant funding of 

£1.8million to decarbonise Torbay Leisure Centre (TLC). The scheme included replacing old gas 

boilers and installing new air source heat pumps, solar panels and low energy lighting. As a result 

the site no longer uses gas to heat the pool and other areas. The project was completed in spring 

2022 and it is estimated that the scheme will result in a £9,000 reduction in annual energy costs 

 

 

12 The climate emergency reflects the need for urgent action to reduce or halt climate change and avoid potentially irreversible environmental 

damage resulting from it. Page 44



  

12 

and save just under 320 tonnes of carbon emissions annually (the equivalent carbon savings to 

taking 167 cars off the road per year).  

However, tackling climate change is not a challenge the Council can face alone. If we don’t take 

action, climate change will eventually impact everyone in Torbay. Everyone in Torbay needs to 

help by taking actions appropriate to them. That is why reducing carbon emissions is also part of 

Torbay’s local plan, economic growth strategy, destination management plan, local transport plan 

and housing strategy.  

In 2021 a new Torbay Climate Partnership was formed to accelerate climate action locally. 

Partners include the Wild Planet Trust, Torbay Climate Action, Torbay Community Development 

Trust, Torbay and South Devon NHS Trust, Local Spark, Groundwork South, Torbay Council, 

Torbay Development Agency, SWISCo, English Riviera UNESCO Global Geopark, Brixham Town 

Council, Brixham Chamber of Commerce, South Devon College, and many others. A full list is 

available here. This Partnership aims to: 

To bring together key communities, organisations, and businesses from across 

Torbay to support guide and bring about action to tackle the climate emergency, 

build climate resilience and ensure Torbay thrives now and in the future 

 

The Partnership has committed to developing and delivering this action plan.  Partners are also 

taking action in their organisations. For example, Torbay Council is working towards becoming a 

carbon neutral council by 2030 and South Devon College has a target to achieve a net zero 
13carbon footprint from the College Estate in 2030 and embed the Sustainable Development Goals 

at all levels across the organisation. 

Case Study: Carbon Neutral Council  

In 2022 Torbay Council created a Carbon Neutral Council Action Plan to work towards becoming 

carbon neutral by 2030.  

Some of the key actions include: 

1. A new policy and set of zero carbon principles for all staff to follow (for more information about 

the Environment and Carbon Neutral Policy see: Environment and Carbon Neutral Policy - 

Torbay Council) 

2. Reviewing the Council’s vehicle fleet and transitioning it over time to zero emissions vehicles 

3. An electric car hire scheme for longer business journeys 

4. Continuing to consult and co-design with its communities a flood defence/alleviation solution 

for Paignton and Preston Sea fronts 

5. £1m to fund projects to decarbonise the Council’s estate and vehicle fleet 

 

 

13 Net zero means that total emissions would be equal to or less than the emissions removed from the environment. This can be achieved by a 

combination of emission reduction and emission removal. Page 45

https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/torbay-climate-partnership/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/environment-and-carbon-neutral-policy/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/environment-and-carbon-neutral-policy/


  

13 

6. Changing the way the Council makes decisions to make sure it considers the impacts on the 

climate 

For more information about the Carbon Neutral Council Action Plan see: Carbon Neutral Council 

Action Plan 2022 to 2024 - Torbay Council 

Co-developing the Torbay Climate Emergency Action Plan  

The following outlines how this Plan was developed.  

 

Figure 6 Developing the Torbay Climate Emergency Action Plan 

This action plan takes a scientific approach to working towards carbon neutrality. The Net Zero 

Torbay report was commissioned in 2020 to help Torbay identify how the national target of 2050, 

and the local 2030 target, could be theoretically achieved and to identify priority actions that 

needed to be delivered immediately. Many of the priority actions feature in this Plan.   

Climate Conversations  

To gain an understanding of what Torbay’s residents and businesses want to do to tackle climate 

change, the Partnership, heavily supported by Torbay Council, held a series of climate 

conversations and surveyed businesses.  

The first Climate Conference was held in November 2021 as part of Torbay’s annual community 

conference. In May 2022 a series of half day sessions explored, in detail, key themes identified at 

the Climate Conference. The themes were decarbonising homes, transport and mobility, nature-

based solutions and waste minimisation and local food.  In addition, over 60 businesses were 

surveyed, and local business meetings attended. A separate event for young people was held in 

partnership with Sound Communities and Torbay Youth Trust. The young people created a series 

of podcasts on what they want tackled locally. For all the conversations, presentations and 

recommendations please see the climate conversation webpage at Climate conversations - 

Torbay Council (www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change).  

The recommendations from these sessions were summarised and prioritised in a larger 

community event in July 2022 and form a proposed set of recommendations for the Partnership to 

explore in this plan. These include:  

▪ Better data on waste  

▪ Community Repair Café 

▪ Set up Community Action Group Torbay 

▪ Networking and working together  

▪ Rail and public transport improvements 

Net Zero 
Torbay Report  

(2020)

Community 
Conference 
(Nov 2021)

Business 
Questionnaire

(May 2022)

Climate 
Conversation 

Series 

(May - July 
2022)

Page 46

https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/carbon-neutral-council-action-plan/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/carbon-neutral-council-action-plan/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/climate-conversations/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/climate-conversations/
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change


  

14 

▪ Decarbonising homes – growing new jobs and rolling out measures  

▪ Net zero planning standards 

▪ Green award for Torbay businesses  

▪ Marine protection and climate friendly tourism 

▪ Better council website on climate issues   

The priority actions from the Net Zero Torbay report and the recommendations from the climate 

conversations have been explored with local partners. Where recommended actions can be 

delivered, or explored further, they appear in this plan. Those not deliverable in this plan will be 

reviewed as part of the refresh of this action plan in 2025.   

During the climate conversations wider environmental issues such as littering were also raised. 

Reducing litter will not significantly reduce carbon emissions so this and similar environmental 

actions are not included in this plan. Information on action to reduce littering can be found on 

Torbay Council and Torbay Harbour Authority websites ( Tor Bay Harbour - Community beach 

cleans (tor-bay-harbour.co.uk)and Guide to litter picking - Torbay Council. 

Torbay’s emissions and achieving carbon neutral by 2030 

In 2020 Torbay’s estimated total greenhouse gas emissions were 437,000 tonnes of carbon 

dioxide equivalent (t CO2e). These emissions are produced within the geographic boundary of 

Torbay (known as production-based emissions). 

 

Figure 7. Estimated total greenhouse gas emissions for Torbay 2020 

(Source University of Exeter Torbay’s 2020 greenhouse gas inventory and sector emissions report 2022)  

Buildings (homes, commercial and public sector), transport and power (resulting from electricity 

consumption) are the largest sources of emissions in Torbay, with buildings contributing over 40 

percent.  

Emissions have generally been on a downward trajectory since 2008 declining by over 40 percent 

by 2020. This is mainly due to nationally significant large scale renewable energy projects coming 

online across UK and feeding into our national electricity grid. However, a lack of progress in 

reducing emissions in the buildings, industry and transport sectors locally is particularly 

concerning. Growth of the urban area is likely responsible for a stagnation of emissions reductions 

in these three sectors. Torbay needs to make significant progress in these three key sectors to 

deliver carbon neutrality. 
Page 47

https://www.tor-bay-harbour.co.uk/environment/community-beach-cleans/
https://www.tor-bay-harbour.co.uk/environment/community-beach-cleans/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/leisure-sports-and-community/parks/volunteer-in-parks-and-green-spaces/start-a-friends-group/guides/guide-to-litter-picking/


  

15 

 

 Any goods that are imported into Torbay will result in emissions in manufacture that occur 

elsewhere (known as consumption-based emissions).  In its 2018 Progress Report to 

Parliament, the Committee on Climate Change estimate that UK average GHG emissions are 8 

t CO2e/person if measured on a production basis or 13 t CO2e/person if measured on 

a consumption basis. 

This action plan realises the need to take into account both production and consumption 

emissions. There is no regular and easy way to calculate an area’s consumption emissions. 

However, given they are likely to be significant, this action plan includes actions to reduce 

consumption emissions. Torbay Climate Partnership has limited influence and control over 

consumption emissions but encouraging and promoting behaviours that support less consumption 

and more local goods and services is included in this plan. However, Torbay’s Carbon Neutral by 

2030 target will be assessed against production emissions. 

Achieving Carbon Neutral 2050  

The Centre for Energy and the Environment at the University of Exeter was commissioned by 

Torbay Council to create the Net Zero14 Torbay report. It provided quantified projections of carbon 

emissions (production emissions only) for Torbay following a “business as usual” path, and with 

the national policies (either in place, or required) to achieve Net Zero by 2050. The Projections 

utilised two reports produced by the Committee on Climate Change (CCC) in 2018: Progress 

Report to Parliament and Net Zero: The UK’s contribution to stopping global warming. The full 

report can be found here. These projections were based on meeting Net Zero by 2050 (the 

national timeline). To assess the impact of targeting an earlier date for Net Zero further work was 

undertaken to assess how Torbay may be able to meet the target by 2030. 

The projections show that in the absence of any carbon reduction policy, GHG emissions in 

Torbay would rise by 25 percent in 2050. Should all governmental planned low, medium, and high-

risk policies, further and speculative options and the actions not yet fully developed into policy 

(2018 policy gaps) be implemented, locally, by 2050, the projections suggest a 90 percent 

reduction in emissions could be possible. The inclusion of GHG removal (for example tree planting 

and carbon capture and storage technologies) would be required to achieve carbon neutrality and 

remove the remaining residual emissions. Figure 8 summarises this.  

Inaction within Torbay is therefore not an option if we are to meet our target. Key priority actions 

identified for Torbay in the Net Zero Torbay Report were: 

1. Retrofitting homes and buildings to make them energy efficient with zero emission heating 

and power 

2. Using our cars less, increasing walking and cycling and public transport  

3. Transitioning to zero emission vehicles  

4. Generating more renewable energy locally 

5. Reducing waste, especially food waste and recycling 

 

 

 

14 Net Zero target requires deep reductions in emissions, with any remaining sources being removed from the atmosphere with greenhouse gas 

removals.  Page 48

https://devonclimateemergency.org.uk/studies-and-data/net-zero-torbay-report/


  

16 

 

Figure 8 Achieving Net Zero Torbay 2050 (Source: Net Zero report 2020) 

Achieving this by 2050 in Torbay will be challenging and require the full implementation of all 

government planned policy (including policies not developed in 2018) being implemented locally.  

Achieving Carbon Neutral 2030  

Achieving carbon neutral by 2050 in Torbay will be challenging. Achieving the same amount of 

carbon reduction by 2030 will require compressing the same measures identified in the Net Zero 

Torbay report into a timeframe that is about one-third as long as the national timescale. For 

measures where the technology is sufficiently mature (e.g. insulating all lofts and cavity walls) this 

might be possible, though it would require supporting funding mechanisms, and there would also 

need to be local capacity for delivery. In addition, existing barriers that have already prevented 

such action from occurring would need to be overcome. For other actions, faster deployment may 

be possible, but this would come at a higher cost. In other cases, the technology may not be 

sufficiently developed to implement e.g. some of the proposed GHG removal technologies. 

These issues are significant when considered at a national level but are exacerbated as Torbay is 

pursuing an accelerated timeline independently of the planned rate of change nationally. This 

would mean that many of these measures would need to be deployed without the support of 

national policy (e.g. regulation or financial rewards) and in many cases would rely on utilising 

technology that may not be sufficiently developed (or that is very expensive) to achieve the 

requisite amount of GHG emission reduction.  

The Net Zero Torbay report shows that significant action is needed across every sector to achieve 

the deep emission reduction that would be required by 2030. Should it not be possible to achieve 

carbon reduction in a particular sector then this would require additional reduction to be achieved 

in other sectors. It is also very likely that some actions can only be delivered locally in line with 

governmental timescales and national policy/programmes. Whilst there are significant challenges 

Page 49



  

17 

in meeting this level of reduction, particularly within an accelerated timescale, there are also local 

opportunities to help Torbay thrive (as outlined below). 

The Torbay Climate Partnership recognise these challenges, and opportunities, and its members 

aim to work together to accelerate actions within their local control to try and meet the 2030 target 

for carbon neutrality. The Partnership will focus on delivering priority actions as outlined in the Net 

Zero Report as well as actions that reflect how Torbay residents and businesses want Torbay to 

tackle climate change locally.  

How Torbay can end its contribution to climate change: 

 
 

The Local Benefits   

The local benefits  

In light of the above, and the clear need for urgent action globally, Torbay needs to take rapid 

action now and play its part. Some action will have to be delivered by central Government, or 

businesses, however, many actions can be influenced and delivered locally. This plan focuses on 

what we can do in Torbay to play our part in tackling the climate emergency.  

Addressing the climate emergency is an opportunity to create a fairer, healthier, more resilient and 

thriving society. It is about creating nice places to live and work now and in the future.  

Encouraging everyone to be more active by walking and cycling; improving air quality through the 

electrification of vehicles; insulating our homes to make them warmer; and eating more balanced 

diets will all improve public health and reduce pressures on the NHS. 

Page 50



  

18 

There is considerable potential for the transition to clean technologies to create new jobs and 

skills, improve energy security and increase economic prosperity. Retrofitting energy efficiency 

measures into housing will reduce fuel poverty and illnesses associated with cold homes and 

create local jobs. 

Enhancing the ability of habitats to store carbon offers opportunities to reverse the decline of 

biodiversity and restore the benefits healthy ecosystems provide. These include reduced flood 

risk, improved water and air quality, nutritious food, timber and fuel, and accessible greenspace.  

UN Sustainable Development Goals  

The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals15 

(SDGs) have been designed to be a "blueprint to 

achieve a better and more sustainable future for all. 

These were adopted by the United Nations and the UK 

Government as a universal call to action to end poverty, 

protect the planet, and ensure that by 2030 all people 

enjoy peace and prosperity. There are 17 goals.  

Addressing the climate emergency locally is an 

opportunity to create a fairer, healthier, more resilient and thriving Torbay. It is about creating nice 

places to live and work now and in the future.  A lot of the actions within this plan will also help 

meet the 17 SDGs goals. This action plan will help to meet the following SDGs:  3 (Good health 

and wellbeing), 7 (Affordable Clean Energy), 8 (Decent work and economic growth), 11 

(Sustainable cities and communities), 12 (Responsible Consumption and Production), 13 (Climate 

Action), 14 and 15 (Life  below water and Life on Land).  

The following sections outline the Action Plan to tackle the climate emergency in Torbay. 

Torbay Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023 - 2025  

This Action Plan describes how Torbay will work towards becoming carbon neutral by 2030.  

This means taking as much carbon dioxide gases out of the atmosphere as we put in. However, 

we will stive to reduce Torbay’s carbon emissions to as near to zero as possible locally16. Where 

residual emissions exist, these will be balanced by removals from the atmosphere. 

Whilst the Torbay Climate Partnership will need to lead many of the actions, this is an action plan 

for everybody in Torbay – businesses and residents alike. Delivery will require all of Torbay to do 

their bit – every organisation and community have their own sphere of influence, capacity, know-

how and opportunities to contribute to achieving the Action Plan’s goals – and that’s why the 

partners have been keen to involve local people when creating it. This plan has been co-produced 

using expert knowledge with the local experience of Torbay’s communities and businesses. 

The Vision 

 

 

15 For more information visit THE 17 GOALS | Sustainable Development (un.org) 
16 Please note there are some actions that can only be delivered through government intervention and support, some 
of which is not planned before 2030.  Page 51

https://sdgs.un.org/goals


  

19 

To work together towards creating a thriving, resilient carbon neutral Torbay by 

2030   

 

From our existing growing spaces to our programmes to retrofit homes, cycling and walking routes 

and new solar farm(s), Torbay is working to tackle the climate emergency. However, by 2030 we 

need to have done much, much more.  

In 2022 Torbay took part in The Net Zero Visions initiative. This was about communities across 

Devon deciding how they want to become low carbon and visualising these ideas in a range of art 

works (e.g. animation, illustration, murals). The aim of the project was to support and start 

conversations, raise awareness and inspire practical local climate action. Torbay’s vision was co-

developed with Torbay Climate Action. Figure 9 is the Torbay Vision created. 

 

Figure 9. Torbay’s Vision. (Illustration by Phillip Harris, September 2022) 

Making our vision a reality will mean working together to help Torbay take action and to make our 

homes warmer, healthy and zero emissions, to regenerate our towns with more walking and 

cycling opportunities, to install more electric charging points and to continue to protect and 

enhance our naturally inspiring coasts and countryside. We are also working to ensure we build 

new flood defences that protect our homes and businesses and there are new jobs supporting this 

transition. Put simply we want Torbay to be thriving in 2030. 

  

Page 52



  

20 

Objectives  

The objectives for this plan are: 

1. High take-up of energy-efficiency measures, renewable energy and low-carbon heating 

technologies in all homes and business premises 

2. Carbon neutral new buildings  

3. Reduce the need to travel and shift to sustainable transport options 

4. Use technology to reduce emissions from vehicles 

5. Avoid waste 

6. Maximise carbon storage in the environment 

7. Transition our power sector to renewables  

8. Support businesses to transition to carbon neutral 

9. Build a climate resilient Torbay 

10. Communicate action to tackle climate change locally 

To become carbon neutral by 2030 we will need to rapidly, over the next 7 years, reduce carbon 

emissions by as much as we possibly can. 

This action plan focuses on the areas where the Net Zero Torbay report suggested immediate 

actions, actions that our residents and businesses prioritised and actions that can save carbon 

emissions and that are within Torbay’s directly influence and control.   

 

This two-year action plan focusses on working towards decarbonising the:  

 

1. Built Environment  

2. Power 

3. Transport   

4. Waste minimisation and food  

5. Nature based solutions 

6. Clean growth and sustainable businesses 

7. A range of cross-cutting themes, including communication 

 

Our Priorities   

The following sections of this plan outline priority themes and a summary of the actions to be 

carried out across Torbay by a range of partners, overseen by the Torbay Climate Partnership. 

Built Environment  

Our homes and buildings make up our built environment. This sector is responsible for 41 percent 

of Torbay’s carbon emissions. The majority of emissions associated with the building sector are 

due to heating our homes (carbon emissions associated with electricity consumption are covered 

in the Power sector). Reducing emissions arising from heating relies on both reducing demand 

through efficiency measures and behaviours and supplying required heat using low-carbon 

technologies such as heat pumps. Energy efficient homes will also create healthy and affordable 

homes that have been improved for the future. In 2020 12 percent of homes in Torbay were also in 

Page 53



  

21 

fuel poverty and three quarters of Torbay’s housing stock achieve an energy performance  

certificate rating of C, whereas for England it’s just over half (54 percent). Improving the energy 

efficiency of homes will help reduce fuel poverty and provide homes that are more resilient to 

energy price rises. 

 

According to the Net Zero Torbay report, Torbay needs to prioritise the following actions:  

▪ For homes, provide an appropriate insulation measure for every available loft and cavity walled 

building as well as the majority of solid walled buildings  

▪ For non-domestic buildings, including those used for industrial purposes, identify significant 

energy reduction opportunities.  

▪ The heat supply to buildings will need to be decarbonised using heat pumps and other low 

carbon forms of heat 

▪ All new homes and buildings need to be built without fossil fuel heating and to a “world-leading” 

energy efficiency standard  

For other actions see the Net Zero Torbay report. 

 

The Climate Conversations recommended projects to help more homes to save energy through  

installing energy efficiency and low carbon measures, including helping homes in fuel poverty and  

strengthen planning requirements to make new developments net zero carbon with Electric 

Vehicle (EV) charging points.  

 

When businesses were asked about what would help them to take action, they stated  

grants, one to one support and for Torbay to have better waste provisions, cycling routes  

and more EV charging points.    

 

Torbay will also need to grow a local skilled workforce to roll out these actions over time.  

Over the next 2 years we will:  

Improve homes for the future - existing houses. We need high take-up of energy-efficiency 
measures, renewable energy, and low-carbon heating technologies in our 63,000 homes. 

To support this Partners will  

▪ By September 2023, Exeter Community Energy (ECOE) to roll out 50 energy saving clinics, 10 

community talks, recruit, and train 10 'Community Energy Champions', 5 front line services 

training events and 200 home visits 

▪ Launch the “Retrofit in Devon” across Torbay (a full support service for anyone able to fund 

improving the energy efficiency of their home/rented properties)  

▪ Exeter Community Energy (ECOE) to support homeowners in Torbay to take up a range of 

grants to improve the energy efficiency of their homes including the Devon-wide Sustainable 

Warmth grant 

▪ Torbay Council to develop a new Housing Strategy and Action plan that aims to Improve 

energy efficiency and reduce fuel poverty 

▪ Torbay Council will continue to support Torbay homeowners taking part in the Energy 

Company Obligation 4 (ECO), a government energy efficiency scheme 

▪ Torbay Council will support Devon County Council, to launch a Devon-wide Energy Service (to 

provide simple advice on saving energy and retrofitting homes) 
Page 54



  

22 

▪ Torbay Council will explore finance options to retrofit properties that do not qualify for 

government energy efficiency / low carbon heat grants and to work with Registered Providers 

of housing to share best practice and opportunities to work together 

▪ Torbay Council will work with local forums to promote take-up of energy-efficiency measures, 

renewable energy, and low-carbon heating technologies 

▪ Building on the Government funded Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard (MEES)17 trial in 

2022, explore ways to enforce the statutory MEES standards locally to ensure rented 

properties meet national energy efficiency standards 

▪ Our registered providers of social homes will also continue to improve the energy efficiency of 

their stocks, including Sanctuary Homes who are piloting Energiesprong in Paignton, a new 

innovative delivery model for energy efficient, low carbon homes 

 

Case Study:  Help to improve homes and save money on fuel bills  

Between 2018 and 2021 local organisation Exeter Community Energy (ECOE) have been 

supporting Torbay residents with energy saving advice through their telephone advice line and via 

home visits. ECOE have provided advice to 197 households during this period. So far in 2022 they 

have supported 146 households. The need for support is growing at pace. 

Since October 2021 ECOE have been holding drop-in energy advice clinics and outreach events 

across the Torbay area including 11 drop-in clinics in Torquay, Paignton and Brixham, 3 pop up 

outreach events in Torquay and, 2 Torbay-wide climate events. 

 

Improve buildings for the future - commercial and industrial premises. We need high take-
up of energy efficiency measures, renewable energy, and low-carbon heating technologies 
in all our businesses. 

To support this Partners will: 

▪ Subject to government funding, Torbay Council and Torbay Development Agency (TDA) to 

develop and roll out a resource efficiency (including energy, water, waste, and transport) 

business support programme. This is likely to include 40 businesses receiving grants, 96 

receiving non-financial support and 96 businesses developing decarbonisation plans 

▪ Organisations within the Torbay Climate Partnership to continue to deliver their own 

decarbonisations plans across their estate(s) and encourage others to do the same 

 

  

 

 

17 MEES - Regulation introduced to improve the energy efficiency of certain private rented property in England and Wales 

Page 55

https://www.energiesprong.uk/about


  

23 

Case Study: A Green Plan for the Torbay and South Devon NHS 

Foundation Trust  

The Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust has produced a Green Plan for 2022-2024 

which outlines its commitment to environmental sustainability with a primary focus on how it will 

achieve the national target of a net zero NHS. The key outcomes of the plan include: 

1. ensuring it is aligned to the NHS-wide ambition, and that of the Devon Integrated Care System 

to become the world’s first healthcare system to reach net zero carbon emission 

2. prioritising interventions which improve the quality of healthcare it delives, while also tackling 

its greenhouse gas emissions and broader sustainability challenges 

3. defining its strategic approach in such a way that it makes the right sustainability decisions first 

time 

The plan will be updated and expanded regularly, as and when there is a better understanding of 

environmental impacts and how to reduce them. The Green Plan will also be aligned with actions 

and timescales that Delivering a Net Zero National Health Service sets out, including the targets 

for the next 20+ years. 

New buildings need to be net-zero 

▪ Torbay Council will refresh the Local Plan’s climate related policies and adopt where possible 

the highest net zero operational carbon standards for new properties 

 

Other actions 

▪ Partners will need to develop a clean growth skills programme to build a skilled workforce to 

support the transition to carbon neutral - focussing initially on sustainable construction and 

domestic housing retrofit. Local supply chains will also be explored  

▪ To support delivery of the Devon Carbon Plan this plan will prioritise supporting the Devon-

wide Energy Advice Service and refreshing the Torbay Local Plan’s policies to support zero-

carbon buildings in operation and set embodied carbon targets. 

Power  

Emissions resulting from electricity consumption across Torbay’s homes and buildings make up 19 

percent of Torbay’s emissions in 2020 (gas consumption was covered in the built environment 

section above).  Nationally, since 2008, this sector has been very successfully reducing carbon 

emissions. In Torbay this has resulted in a 71 percent reduction in emissions from this sector. 

However, these savings from electricity generation have largely been achieved through the 

decommissioning coal and gas-powered power stations and the rollout of largescale renewable 

energy generation projects across the UK including offshore wind. Not local projects.   

Achieving net zero nationally will involve the electrification of our energy needs for heating and 

transport. This includes removing existing petrol and diesel cars and vans from the roads and 

using heat pumps for heating buildings (instead of natural gas or oil). Government also wants to 

see ambitious, quicker expansion of nuclear, wind, solar, hydrogen, oil, and gas, including 

Page 56



  

24 

delivering the equivalent to one nuclear reactor a year instead of one a decade.  95 percent of 

Great Britain’s electricity is set to be low carbon by 2030 (Energy Security Strategy, UK 

Government 2022). In reality this increased need for new electricity capacity will be met in part 

through nationally significant infrastructure, such as offshore wind farms. Much of the power 

sector’s decarbonisation will happen nationally with limited action required locally. However, we all 

will need to use less energy to help with this transition and install local renewable electricity 

generation where possible. 

A small amount of local renewable energy generation does occur in Torbay. According to the Net 

Zero Report this is under two percent of all the energy used in Torbay.  It comes mainly from roof 

mounted solar photovoltaic panels on our homes and buildings.  

 

There is a small amount of potential (10 percent) for large-scale renewable energy generation in 

Torbay which is summarised in the Net Zero Report.  

 

Case Study: Brokenbury Solar Farm  

Torbay Development Agency (TDA), Torbay Council’s economic development company, is 

building Torbay’s first solar farm in 2023.  

A new 2 megawatt solar farm is being built at Brokenbury, between Paignton and Brixham. It will 

create clean energy – enough to power around 800 homes. Southwest Water will use the majority 

of the power for a nearby water treatment plant, with surplus energy supplied to the national grid.  

It is estimated that the farm could save around 460 tonnes of carbon emissions per year, and a 

total of almost 11,000 tonnes of carbon in its 25-year lifecycle. 

 

We need to use less energy, generate what renewable energy we can, through projects like 

Brokenbury and by installing solar panels on our roofs, and work locally with electricity distribution 

partners to ensure our local electricity grid is future ready.  

 

According to the Net Zero Torbay, Torbay needs to prioritise the following actions:  

▪ Review of the potential for renewable energy in Torbay and identify potential renewable energy 

sites and make provision for these in the local plan 

▪ Work with Western Power Distribution (WPD) and others to ensure electricity infrastructure is 

capable of meeting increased local energy generation and demand for electricity from the 

heating, industry, and transport sectors  

▪ Look to trial and support smart electricity projects, including those with battery storage aspects 

 

During the Climate Conversations recommendations and priorities to transition Torbay’s power 

sector did not feature extensively. However, given it makes up 19 percent of Torbay’s total 

emissions and the importance of ensuring electricity infrastructure is capable of meeting increased 

local energy generation (and the current global energy crisis), the following actions will be 

undertaken.  

 

Over the next two years we will:  

 

Use less energy and continue the transition to renewables 
Page 57



  

25 

 

To support this Partners will:  

 

▪ Promote saving energy in homes and installing renewable energy through campaigns lead by 

Exeter Community Energy (see the built environment above for more support)  

▪ Torbay Council will work with Western Power Distribution (WPD) and others to ensure 

electricity infrastructure is capable of meeting increased local energy generation and demand 

for electricity from the heating, industry, and transport sectors 

▪ Subject to government funding, Torbay Council and TDA to develop and roll out a resource 

efficiency business support programme (covering energy saving and renewable energy 

bespoke advice) 

▪ Torbay Council and Devon County Council to explore developing a local area energy plan 

(LEAPs). LEAPs take a whole energy system approach that sets out to identify the most 

effective route for the local area to contribute towards meeting its local carbon neutral target. 

They address electricity, heat, and gas networks, future potential for hydrogen, the built 

environment (industrial, domestic, and commercial) its fabric and systems, flexibility, energy 

generation and storage, and providing energy to decarbonised transport e.g. electricity to 

electric vehicles and charging infrastructure 

▪ Action to reduce electricity demand and promote renewable energy in new homes and 

buildings is covered in the built environment section. Action to support the transition to electric 

vehicles is covered in the Transport section below 

▪ To support delivery of the Devon Carbon Plan this plan will prioritise working with Devon on an 

energy strategy for Devon to deploy renewable energy generation, including community energy 

 

Case Study: Energy Community Energy Solar installations  

Exeter Community Energy (ECOE) was established by eight local people in 2014 who were 

brought together by Transition Exeter‘s energy group. ECOE’s vision is for renewable energy 

projects to bring about practical change in their community by addressing energy related 

challenges. 

To date ECOE has a range of projects including solar installations. 

Wonford Community and Learning Centre 

 

ECOE has installed solar panels that can generate 20.5 kilowatts of power at peak output 

(20.5kWp) on the roof of Exeter City Council’s Wonford Community and Learning Centre 

Page 58

https://www.ecoe.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Wonford-Small.jpg


  

26 

Transport  

This sector is responsible for 30 percent of Torbay’s emissions. Through the combustion 

processes carbon emissions arise from our cars, vans, HGVs, trains, and buses18. Reducing these 

emissions rapidly is vital to meet our 2030 targets.  We will all need to reduce our need to travel, 

shift to active and sustainable modes of transport and use technology to reduce emissions from 

vehicles.  As part of this people need to feel safe and our public transport needs to be an 

affordable and reliable option.  

 

According to the Net Zero Report (2020), Torbay needs to prioritise the following actions:  

▪ 10 percent of our journeys (by distance) need to shift to sustainable, active travel modes like 

walking and cycling, car and bike clubs and public transport 

▪ Promote the uptake of electric vehicles in Torbay  

▪ Work with partners to plan and develop charging infrastructure across Torbay 

▪ Work with Stagecoach and other bus providers to consider the business case for replacing the 

existing bus fleet with zero carbon alternatives 

For other actions see the Net Zero Torbay Report. 

 

The results of the Climate Conversations highlighted the importance of more walking and cycling 

routes, making it safe for people to walk, cycle and wheel, improving rail and bus services and 

electric bike trials and taking an tailored neighbourhood approach.  

 

Over the next two years we will: 

 

Continue to reduce the need to travel and shift to sustainable transport options 

 

To support this Torbay Council with partners will: 

▪ Develop a road safety campaign to support active travel, this is paramount to progress 

▪ Trial walking and cycling routes between Windy Corner and Brixham 

▪ Develop a Local Transport Plan  

▪ Review subsidised Bus Services to support the community 

▪ Establish a Local Bus Partnership to deliver network improvements 

▪ Develop a One Travel Ticket for Torbay 

▪ Roll out an electric bike and electric car rental club for Torbay  

▪ Explore mobility hubs to reduce car use in town centres and other key sites across Torbay 

▪ Identify potential neighbourhood(s) for a low carbon neighbourhood pilot 

▪ Implement trial car free days on parts of the network, such as sea fronts or town centres 

▪ Torbay on the Move to promote active travel across Torbay 

▪ Continue to deliver Bikeability classes in primary and secondary schools  

▪ Launch healthy Selfie Trial in Torbay 

▪ Deliver Edginswell Station, a new railway station in the Torquay Gateway  

▪ Deliver active travel projects as outlined in the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

(LCWIP) 

 

 

18 Shipping and aviation are excluded from these emission Page 59



  

27 

▪ Work with partners to plan and develop charging infrastructure across Torbay 

▪ Carry out a 20-minute neighbourhoods Audit for Torbay Council 

▪ Explore a range of funding opportunities 

A range of other actions such as updating cycling maps, reviewing cycle parking, wayfinding 

signage, ferry services and strengthening planning policy will also be explored.  

 

Case Study: Bikeability in Torbay 

Bikeability is the government's national cycle training programme. It helps teach practical cycling 

skills and how to cycle on today's roads.  

To help young people feel safe and confident on the roads of Torbay, Torbay Council have been 

working with all schools to offer Bikeability training.  

The total number of children trained across Levels 1 (off road, gateway to cycling) and 2 (on road 

training to build confidence) between April 2021 and April 2022 in Torbay was 1396.  

2 pilot projects aimed at teaching how to fix bikes has also commenced at Upton St James and 

Mayfield schools.  

And it is not just about young people, Adult and family training has also been carried out.  

 

Use technology to reduce emissions from vehicles 

 

▪ Working with Devon County Council, Torbay Council to deliver public electric vehicle charging 

points across Torbay’s public car parks, including installing at least 48 early in 2023 

▪ Finalise an electric charging infrastructure strategy for Torbay and scale up delivery of public 

charging points across Torbay 

▪ Phase out petrol and diesel taxis by 2030 

▪ Transition the Council and SWISCo fleets to zero emission vehicles 

 

Other actions  

 

▪ Improve capturing of data, monitoring equipment, maintenance, publication, and use of data for 

all modes across Torbay 

▪ Subject to government funding, Torbay Council and TDA will develop and roll out a resource 

efficiency (including sustainable travel advice) business support programme.  

▪ Torbay on the Move will promote active travel across Torbay 

▪ To support delivery of the Devon Carbon Plan this plan will assist Devon to deliver many 

actions within the Plan locally. Priority areas include working with Devon to develop a new local 

transport plan, electric charging strategies to deploy the right chargers in the right place and to 

transition Torbay Council and SWISCo’s fleets to zero emission vehicles 

 

Page 60



  

28 

Waste Minimisation and Food  

The way we make things, use them, and then throw them away creates greenhouse gases (GHG). 

These emissions contribute to climate change.  These emissions arise during the manufacturing 

and transportation to the customer and then through its disposal.  

In 2019-2020 some 41,300 tonnes of waste were generated from homes in Torbay. We recycled 

and composted about 37 percent of our waste. In 2020 only one percent of Torbay’s emissions 

came from waste, however this does not include the emissions that arise from the 

disposal/recycling of waste. This is because these processes occur outside Torbay. 

As outlined in the Net Zero Torbay report, 92 percent of emissions from waste in the UK arise from 

methane, another greenhouse gas that we need to reduce in order to tackle climate change. The 

majority of this methane is emitted from the decomposition of biodegradable waste in landfill sites. 

Torbay Council, who are responsible for collecting household and some commercial waste has 

stopped landfilling waste. Household waste is now either recycled, composted, or used for energy 

recovery. However there is still a significant volume of commercial and industrial waste, including 

biodegradable waste, that is currently sent to landfill. This needs to be reduced. 

We can minimise waste creation and the associated emissions by using things for longer, by 

implementing the waste hierarchy– purchasing less, reusing, and repairing what we already have, 

and by recycling and recovering materials and energy. This is known as a circular economy.  

The emissions associated to the purchasing of goods produced abroad also create emissions 

overseas. We do not have data on this for Torbay but in Devon it is estimated that this could 

represent 39 percent of the total emissions Devon is responsible for.  So Torbay also needs to 

address these emissions where we can.   

According to the Net Zero Report (2020), waste will become an increasing problem as other 

sectors in Torbay begin to reduce their emissions. Torbay needs to prioritise the following actions:  

▪ Waste generation, especially food, should be reduced. This will require a strong element of 

behaviour change which could be supported by local campaigns  

▪ Torbay’s recycling rates should be increased in line with the national target of a 60 percent by 

2030 

For other actions see the Net Zero Torbay Report. 

 

The results of the Climate Conversations recommended many great ideas to reduce waste, reuse  

and recycle waste, including establishing a local repair café, exploring a range of community  

projects and establishing a community action group (CAG) or similar to facilitate more local action. 

Other areas included schools’ education programmes and the need for better waste date to see  

the full scale of emissions that arise from Torbay’s waste. 

 

Avoid Waste 

Over the next 2 years we will:  

Reduce and reuse waste (including reducing emissions from biodegradable waste) 

 

To support this Partners will: 

 

Page 61



  

29 

▪ Led by Torbay Council with a range of existing community groups such as Torbay Climate 

Action and Torbay Community Development Trust, explore a Torbay Community Action Group 

(CAG), or similar, for Torbay to accelerate local community action around waste minimisation 

and wider climate action. Other examples of CAGs in Devon can be seen here 

▪ Coordinated by Torbay Council, but codeveloped with a number of partners, deliver a Torbay 

food strategy by end of 2023 covering actions that support the minimisation of food waste, 

maximises food sharing initiative (community larders), local growing and education including 

cookery classes 

▪ Through the Waste Management Strategy for Torbay, SWISCo to continue to reduce the 

amount of waste sent for energy recovery and disposal, especially food waste, and continue to 

offer a garden waste kerbside collection service 

▪ SWISCo to continue to reduce waste by working in partnership with Devon’s ‘Don’t Let Devon 

Go to Waste’ campaign and nationally, as part of the Waste and Resources Action 

Programme’s ‘Love Food Hate Waste’ Campaign 

▪ SWISCo to promote reusable nappies through local Nappuccino events  

 

Recycle  

 

▪ SWISCo to increase Torbay's recycling rate to 50% by the end of March 2023 and continue to 

increase the recycling rate towards the national targets of 60% by 2030 

▪ Deliver the Waste Management Strategy and increase education, engagement, and 

communication on recycling initiatives, including the Right Stuff, Right Box scheme and greater 

focus on getting more food waste out of the black bin. 

▪ Continue to offer a range of services including assisted collections and support for the visually 

impaired, kerbside recycling and garden waste schemes, bulky waste collection service, 

garden waste collection points and Householders Recycling Centre 

▪ Review a local bottle recycling scheme once the Government provides more details on the 

proposed Deposit Return Scheme 

 

Other actions 

 

▪ Subject to funding, Torbay Council and TDA to develop support for small businesses to help 

them save money, through minimising waste and wider circular economy principles 

▪ Through the Waste Management Strategy for Torbay, SWISCo to continue to develop 

commercial waste and recycling customer base 

▪ Torbay Harbour Authority with partners to establish support for the fishing industry to reduce 

waste  

▪ Torbay Council and SWISCo to review the Waste Management Strategy in 2023 and ensure it 

is in line with national recycling targets and/or local carbon neutral targets (whichever is 

required sooner) 

▪ Gain better access to waste data  

▪ To support delivery of the Devon Carbon Plan we will also continue to support waste education 

in schools and deliver targeted communication to empower people and businesses to adopt 

more sustainable consumption habits, prevent waste and shift to a culture of sharing, reusing, 

and recycling.  

 

Page 62

https://cagdevon.org.uk/


  

30 

Case study: Groundwork South  

Groundwork South Trust are an environmental charity who have been working in Torbay to 

support the local environment and deliver educational projects in communities and schools  

Groundwork South have been working with many schools in Torbay to tackle issues such as how 

to reach net zero, use limited outdoor space creatively for learning and development, creating 

youth advocacy programmes and eco clubs and much more.  

During Covid they delivered the green influencers project in Shiphay Academy, Roselands Primary 

School, and Oldway Primary School. Supporting the transition from year 6 to secondary school 

during lock down and giving the young people a safe way to get outside and reconnect with their 

environment. This year they have also been working with Paignton Academy who now have their 

very own eco club looking at food growing. 

.  

(Photo courtesy of Groundwork South) 

Nature Based Solutions  

Nature based solutions such as tree planting, restoring sea grass/other habitats and re-wilding 

areas of land can help store carbon emissions and play a role in helping an area achieve carbon  

neutrality. Nature based solutions can also help alleviate flood risk, help cool spaces in the  

summer and restore nature, improve biodiversity, and deliver a range of health benefits to local  

communities. 

According to the Net Zero Torbay report, emissions from agriculture and land use change are 
small (-0.1 percent) in Torbay. Therefore it has not been discussed in detail in this plan. The 
absence of major agriculture in Torbay enables focus on other high emitting sectors.  
 
Achieving net zero emissions in the UK will require some level of GHG removal to mitigate 
residual emissions in difficult sectors. Meeting carbon neutral by 2030 in Torbay will also require 
GHG removal. Torbay has very limited opportunities for local GHG removal and is therefore likely 

Page 63



  

31 

to rely on the regional and national programme of GHG removals to tackle any residual emissions 
that cannot be reduced. Of which few currently exist.  

Nature based solutions such as tree planting and other schemes to increase carbon storage 
locally will be encouraged to remove GHG’s from the atmosphere. But beyond these steps Torbay 
will need to rely on a proportion of national GHG removal measures to achieve carbon neutrality.  

The results of the Climate Conversations recommended priority actions such as local community 

growing schemes, sea grass projects, the creation of a green business award and making Torbay a 

more climate friendly tourism destination.  

Over the next 2 years we will:  

Maximise natural carbon storage locally 

To support this Partners will: 

▪ Lead by Torbay Council and co-developed with partners, produce a refreshed Torbay green 

infrastructure19 strategy to restore, protect and enhance our naturally inspiring Torbay and 

support it to play a greater role in helping tackle climate change. This will include blue 

infrastructure (rivers, streams, bodies of water, sea) 

▪ Torbay Council will install 29 green roofed bus shelters  

▪ SWISCo will continue to deliver effective tree planting schemes as part of the three-year 

funded i-tree initiative, including planting over 3000 trees 

▪ SWISCo to develop a new Tree Planting Strategy for Torbay 

▪ SWISCo to refresh Torbay’s Tree and Woodland Framework Strategy which aims to ensure 

the safety of Council-owned trees; increase levels of planting as part of a wider strategy to 

combat climate change; maintain and encourage biodiversity; maintain and improve landscape 

quality 

▪ SWISCo to develop an open spaces strategy  

▪ To better protect Tor Bay’s Sea grass population and increase biodiversity and carbon storage 

within our marine environment, the Torbay Marine Forum will explore the feasibility of piloting 

areas of Tor Bay that are protected from motorised marine users  

▪ Wild Planet Trust to run an advocacy campaign on how to protect Tor Bay and protect our local 

sea grass population 

▪ To protect and help restore Torbay's sea grasses, Torbay Harbour Authority (THA) to increase 

the amount of sea grass markers out in Tor Bay from 5 to 50. 

▪ A Marine Protection Vision to be developed by the Harbour Committee 

▪ Lead by THA establish support for the fishing industry to reduce waste and work towards net 

zero 

▪ THA to reduce the emissions from their harbour offices and fleet 

▪ Torbay Coast and Countryside Trust (TCCT) to continue to actively manage over 680ha of land 

(including organic farmland) to deliver wildlife, environmental and social benefits including 

habitat recovery and carbon storage where appropriate 

▪ TCCT to explore piloting a local carbon offset scheme on non-productive Trust land. 

▪ Torbay partners to launch a new green business award   

 

 

19 Multi-functional green space and other green features Page 64



  

32 

▪ Groundwork South to launch the Clennon River Warden Scheme and continue to manage the 

implementation of essential flood defence schemes and restoration of an important ecological 

habitats at Westerland Valley Country Park, Paignton, including establishing a new wet 

woodland  

▪ Groundwork South to continue to work with schools in Torbay on growing food and establish 

forest clubs and explore with partners ways to roll this out across more schools in Torbay 

▪ A range of natural flood management (NFM) projects are covered in the Climate Adaptation 

section of this Action Plan 

▪ To support delivery of the Devon Carbon Plan we will work with Devon partners to develop a 

Local Nature Recovery Strategy and create and implement a Nature Recovery Network. This 

will also include the role of local restoration schemes as natural carbon storage schemes.  

 

Case Study: Eco-moorings installed to protect Torbay’s  

seagrass meadows 

In October 2021 Wild Planet Trust, an education, scientific and conservation charity based in 

Paignton, have installed three new boat moorings designed to protect seagrass meadows. The 

moorings were installed in Fishcombe Cove, one of the main seagrass meadows in Torbay.  

Both boat anchors and traditional mooring systems have a detrimental impact on seagrass. 

Anchors pull up the seagrass roots and mooring chains move across the seabed with the 

changing tides and currents scouring the seabed of life, resulting in damage to the habitat. The 

design of these new mooring systems means damage to seagrass is prevented as the mooring 

chains are suspended above the seabed, protecting the seagrass. 

Data recorded over the last year shows that detrimental anchoring in Fishcombe Cove has 

dropped a huge amount since the eco-moorings have been available for use by boat owners.  

Clean Growth and Sustainable Businesses   

Five percent of Torbay’s emissions come from industry. Torbay therefore has little energy 

intensive industries. Torbay’s focus will instead need to be on creating clean growth by helping our 

smaller businesses to save money and reduce emissions by the prudent use of energy, water, and 

waste. Torbay will focus on sectors such as construction, tourism, and the fishing sectors. 

 

As part of the consultation on Torbay’s Economic Growth Strategy, businesses were asked what 

would help them to take more actions to tackle climate. A range of responses were received 

including grant support, better cycling network, bespoke advice and training, improved waste 

services and increased numbers of electric charging points.  

 

Over the next two years we will:  

Support businesses to transition to carbon neutral 

 

To support this Partners will: 

     

Page 65



  

33 

▪ Subject to government funding, Torbay Council and TDA will develop and roll out a resource 

efficiency business support programme. This is likely to include 40 businesses receiving 

grants, 96 receiving non-financial support and 96 businesses developing decarbonisation plans 

▪ Torbay Council, TDA and English Riviera UNESCO Global Geopark (ERUGGp) partners will 

develop a Green Tourism Award and to showcase exemplars of good practice and supporting 

the overall reputation of Torbay as a sustainable tourism destination 

▪ Creating sustainable tourism is one of the priorities of Torbay Destination Management Plan 

(DMP).  Partners will align the DMP with the ambitions this Plan to work towards achieving 

these aspirations 

▪ Partners will explore the unique opportunity to use the UNESCO Global Geopark designation 

as a focus for sustainable tourism and maximise engagement with businesses and visitors 

▪ Torbay Council, TDA and partners will explore the options to align with the UNESCO Glasgow 

Declaration on Climate Change as a commitment to a more sustainable visitor economy 

▪ Torbay Council will develop a sustainable events charter to make sure large council run events 

work towards meeting Torbay's carbon neutral 2030 target 

▪ As this Plan develops, Torbay Climate Partnership will explore a clean growth skills 

programme with partners across Torbay to build a skilled workforce to support the transition to 

carbon neutral 

▪ The English Riviera BID Company by summer 2023 will create a digital toolkit for Tourism 

sector, including a range of practical advice and support 

▪ The English Riviera BID Company will continue to annually hold Walking Fest, which promotes 

a range of local walks across Torbay  

▪ The English Riviera BID Company will update its website with climate friendly visitor 

information   

Cross Cutting Themes  

Behaviour Change, Education, and Community 

Engagement  

Within the next 7 years, the way we operate our businesses and the way we live will need to be 

different.  Some of the actions above are technology-based solutions but most require behaviour 

change too. Behaviours that reduce greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs) need to be easy to adopt 

and people need to understand and desire the benefits for their health, prosperity, and quality of 

life. Everyone needs to feel they can be part of the solution. It also needs to be done in a way that 

is just, fair and leaves no one behind.  

 

In all of the Community Conversations held over the summer of 2022, greater promotion and 

communication of actions to help tackle climate change was a popular recommendation in all 

sessions. This included promoting a range of actions such as waste minimisation and recycling, 

saving energy, improving homes and buildings and cycling routes, and wider environmental 

messages on the importance of protecting the natural environment by, for example, reducing 

littering and fly tipping.  

 

As it stands there is not one coordinated public awareness raising campaign on tackling climate 

Page 66



  

34 

change and its benefits. Developing this will require an organisation to lead the work and, most 

likely, will require funding and staff to deliver it on a continuous basis. Various Climate Partnership 

members including Torbay Council, SWISCo, Wild Plant Trust, TCCT, South Devon College, NHS, 

and the Geopark do promote a range of environmental issues but not in a fully coordinated way 

and not always under the umbrella of tackling climate change. Engaging with the public and 

businesses also needs different messages and approaches. Many recommendations were also 

made about working with schools and colleges.  

 

Over the next two years we will:  

 

Communicate action to tackle climate change locally 

 

To support this Partners will:  

 

▪ Torbay Community Development Trust will complete a review and recommendations on using 

the Torbay Together website as a platform for carbon neutral advice for local residents  

▪ Torbay Climate Action will continue to provide talks to community groups across Torbay on 

tackling climate change 

▪ Torbay Climate Action will hold carbon literacy training sessions for communities in Torbay 

from January 2023 

▪ Torbay Council and SWISCo will promote a range of practical campaigns covering waste 

minimisation and recycling, saving energy and carbon, walking, and cycling and electric vehicle 

charging points. The Council will also update the climate change pages of its website 

▪ Groundwork South will continue to work in Torbay schools promoting sustainable behaviour 

changes through local growing and waste minimisation classes, local field trips and practical 

projects across the school 

 

However, given the scale of meeting this challenge, Torbay Climate Partnership will: 

▪ Explore how to coordinate campaigns across the Partnership and deliver comprehensive 

awareness raising campaigns 20across Torbay communities.  

▪ Explore how to deliver comprehensive awareness raising campaigns across Torbay’s 

businesses, focussing on campaigns to support the fishing Industry and Tourism sectors. 

▪ Through the Government's Sustainability and Climate Change Strategy, teachers will be 

supported to deliver climate change education through a model science curriculum. The 

Partnership will explore how to get more support to schools and colleges. 

 

Community Engagement  

In all community conversations engaging the public through a range of community-based projects 

were recommended, including recommendations for clothes swap, toy library, community fridges, 

repair café, cloth nappy library. Some of these already exist like the monthly Nappiosinos, held to 

promote the use of real nappies, and Groundwork South’s work supporting 3 neighbourhoods to 

develop local growing spaces including the Marvellous Melville project.  

 

 

20 These will cover practical advice on walking, cycling, electric vehicles, waste minimisation, reuse and repair, buying less, saving energy in our 
homes and businesses and the role of nature in tackling climate change and the protecting our local seagrass population. It will also be important to 
promote and celebrate local success and the wider benefits Page 67



  

35 

 

Over the next two years partners will:  

Engage with our communities and create more local community projects that will help 

tackle climate change 

To support this Partners will:  

 

• Torbay Community Development Trust (CDT) will start conversations and open up 

opportunities for the Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector to 

collaborate on carbon reduction projects like repair cafes/similar 

• CDT will look at the option of whether their Torbay Helpline could support more sign posting 

for local residents to community groups and organisations linked to circular economy and 

carbon reduction 

• Torbay Climate Action will continue to provide talks to community groups across Torbay 

• Torbay Climate Action will hold carbon literacy training sessions for communities in Torbay 

from January 2023 

• Torbay Climate Action will establish a community grow space in Paignton library by 2024 

• Groundwork South to continue to work with communities across Torbay on a range of 

environmental projects (as per the nature Based Solutions section)  

 

Climate Adaptation and Building Community Resilience  

Aiming to limit carbon emissions is not enough. Depending on how successful the world is at 

reducing emissions, global temperatures by 2100 are likely to rise by between 1.5°C and 4°C 

above pre-industrial levels. As such, we need to accept that some level of change to our climate is 

inevitable.  

We need to assess the risks to our communities and reduce their vulnerability to changes in 

climate. We need to learn to adapt to a changing climate and be better prepared and recover 

quickly from future events. This is what we mean by climate adaptation and building community 

resilience.   

Some key risks that need to continue to be consider are:    

• Flooding and coastal change risks to our communities, businesses, and infrastructure  

• Risks to health, well-being, and productivity from higher temperatures  

• Risks of water deficits in public water supply, and for agriculture with impacts on freshwater 

ecology 

• Risks to natural capital, including soils, coastal, marine, and freshwater ecosystems, and 

biodiversity 

Over the next two year we will: 

 

Continue to build a climate resilient Torbay 

 

To support this Partners will: 

 

Page 68



  

36 

▪ Torbay Council and the TDA will continue to co-design with our communities a flood 

defence/alleviation solution for Paignton and Preston Sea fronts 

▪ Environment Agency will continue to provide funding to Torbay Council for coastal risk 

management projects 

▪ Torbay Council and the Environment Agency, through the Devon Flood, Coastal Risk 

Innovation Programme, will create two micro forest to reduce flood risk in Torbay 

▪ The Environment Agency will commence work creating the Southwest Resilience Hub which 

will be a portal for communities across Devon to access information relating to flooding and 

coastal change 

▪ Torbay Council will take part in the EU ARSINOE Project. This project will work with the 

University of Exeter to model flood risk and predicted future changes in climate to develop 

actions that will increase Torbay's resilience to a changing climate (including impacts on health 

and critical infrastructure) 

▪ Torbay Council will use the results of the Met Office’s Torbay City Pack and forthcoming 

Adaptation Plan for Devon, Cornwall, and the Isles of Sicily to ensure Torbay understands 

current and future vulnerability to a changing climate and takes actions to strengthen its 

resilience. 

 

All actions are outlined in Appendix 1 - List of actions in the Torbay Climate Emergency 

Action Plan (separate document). 

Summary of Top 25 Actions    

1.Roll out energy saving clinics, community talks, recruit, and train 10 

'Community Energy Champions' and over 200 home visits 

By when? Mid 2023 

Led by: Exeter Community Energy (ECOE) 

2.Develop projects to help more homes to save energy through installing energy 

efficiency and low carbon measures 

By when? 2025 

Led by: ECOE, Torbay Council (TC), Devon County Council (DCC) 

3.Help more homes out of fuel poverty through installing energy efficiency and 

low carbon measures    

By when? 2025 

Led by: ECOE, TC, DCC 

4. Launch the new Devon Energy Service in Torbay (to provide simple advice on 

saving energy and retrofitting homes and a referral service)   

By when? 2023 

Led by: ECOE, TC, DCC 

Page 69



  

37 

5.Strengthen planning requirements to make new developments net zero 

operational carbon with EV charging points      

By when? 2025 

Led by: TC 

6.Work in partnership with high energy users in Torbay and share best practice  

By when? 2025 

Led by: TC 

7.Develop support for small businesses to help them save money, through 

saving carbon, energy waste and water  

By when? 2025 

Led by: Torbay Development Agency (TDA) 

8.Explore developing appropriate clean energy projects and a local area energy 

plan to help transition our local energy system  

By when? 2025 

Led by: TC, DCC 

9.To encourage cycling and walking, improve the safety of our roads   

By when? 2025 

Led by: TC, Sustrans 

10.Explore an affordable One Ticket option for all bus travel in the Bay 

By when? 2025 

Led by: TC, Bus Partnership once fully established  

11.Invest in sustainable travel options including more cycling, wheeling, and 

walking routes 

By when? 2025 

Led by: TC 

12.Set up a community electric car and bike share scheme  

By when? 2024 

Led by: TC 

13.Increase zero emission buses across Torbay  

By when? 2025 

Led by: TC, Bus Partnership once fully established  

14.Roll out public electric charging points in Torbay Page 70



  

38 

By when? 2023 

Led by: TC, DCC 

15.Develop a new Local Transport Plan for Torbay  

By when? 2024 

Led by: TC, DCC 

16.Support walking, cycling, and scooting to school projects 

By when? 2025 

Led by: TC 

17.Continue to increase the recycling rate towards 60%  

By when? 2025 

Led by: SWISCo 

18.To reduce waste, explore establishing a community repair café  

By when? 2024 

Led by: Various  

19.Explore more local community based growing projects  

By when? 2024 

Led by: Various  

20.Develop a new Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy for Torbay to protect 

our inspiring natural environment  

By when? 2024 

Led by: TC 

21.Help store carbon by protecting our local sea grasses  

By when? 2025 

Led by: Marine Forum, Torbay Harbour Authority  

22.Develop a green tourism award 

By when? 2025 

Led by: Various  

23.Explore setting up a Torbay Community Action Group or similar to create 

more local community projects    

By when? Early 2025 

Led by: Various  

Page 71



  

39 

24.Explore how to deliver more local campaigns to encourage sustainable 

lifestyles and save money  

By when? 2025 

Led by: Torbay Climate Partnership, led by the English Riviera UNESCO Global Geopark 

25.Explore how to deliver more local campaigns in schools to encourage 

sustainable lifestyles  

By when? 2025 

Led by: Torbay Climate Partnership    

 

What Can I Do? 

There are lots of things you can do about climate change from calculating our carbon footprint to 

walking more, buying green energy, switching to go car free, eating a plant-based diet, hang-

drying clothes, recycling and upgrading light bulb, to name but a few ideas.  

A great place to start is to look at the Devon Climate Emergency What Can I do section of the 

website(Top Tips for Everyone – Devon Climate Emergency) and Torbay Council’s Take Action 

page here.  

What Organisations Can Do? 

Organisations across Torbay are taking action to tackle climate change. Actions such calculating 

your carbon footprint and using less energy, water and waste and transitioning your fleet to zero 

emission alternatives are just some ideas. Many actions can also help your organisation save 

money. A great place to start is Devon Climate Emergency What can my organisation do? 

Webpage (Resources for Organisations – Devon Climate Emergency) 

Funding The Transition  

The actions that appear in this plan have been explored with a range of local and regional 

partners. Many only require staff/volunteers time to deliver. Others require funding and/or 

additional staff capacity to deliver. It is not possible to estimate the total cost to deliver this plan, 

nor is it for one organisation to fund. In some instances, partners who have agreed to deliver 

actions in this plan will need to explore additional resources before delivery can commence. 

Exploring the funding is part of this work. 

Measuring Success 

This plan aims to set Torbay on an accelerated path towards carbon neutral by 2030.  It is a 2-

year plan. Subsequent plans will be developed all the way up to 2030.  

Page 72

https://devonclimateemergency.org.uk/individual-top-tips/
https://devonclimateemergency.org.uk/individual-top-tips/
https://devonclimateemergency.org.uk/individual-top-tips/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/take-action/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/climate-change/take-action/
https://devonclimateemergency.org.uk/resources-for-organisations/
https://devonclimateemergency.org.uk/resources-for-organisations/


  

40 

The data used to establish Torbay’s carbon emissions baseline was collated by University of 

Exeter Centre for Energy and Environment. This data shows carbon dioxide emissions in Torbay 

have reduced by 40 percent between 2008 and 2020 (see Figure 10 below). To achieve carbon 

neutrality in Torbay would mean that Torbay will need to reduce its emissions to as near to zero as 

possible by 2030. Where this is not possible, and emissions remain in 2030, Torbay will need to 

offset these residual emissions annually through local/regional schemes that store carbon i.e. tree 

planting or through greenhouse gas removal technologies (if available).  

Currently the average total annual change in Torbay emissions was four percent21. The annual 

change required to achieve zero carbon emissions by 2030 is seven percent (University of Exeter: 

Torbay’s 2020 greenhouse gas inventory and sector emissions monitoring 2022). Therefore much 

more action is needed.   

 

Figure 10: Torbay’s CO2e emissions between 2008 - 2020 

This plan does not quantify the carbon savings associated to each proposed actions to be carried 

out. This is because many actions are enabling actions or are actions that have too many 

elements that any quantification would be greatly inaccurate.  

Instead, Torbay Climate Partnership will annually monitor delivery of all actions in the Action Plan 

and Torbay’s total emissions (tCO2e) up to 2030 and beyond. Torbay’s emissions data is collated 

from government data and takes nearly 2 years to become available. Therefore, to make sure we 

are making progress, we need to supplement this data with other available data and set interim 

targets up to 2030.  

To help with this the Partnership has established a range of local outcomes this plan aims to 

deliver for Torbay. These are based on the objectives of this action plan. These will show what 

success will look like for everyone in Torbay if we achieve the Vision and Objectives of this plan.  

Objective 1.High take-up of energy-efficiency measures, renewable energy and 

low-carbon heating technologies in all homes and business premises 

 

 

21 Based on 2016 – 2019 data Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2017


  

41 

 Outcome: Torbay will have more homes and buildings that are energy efficient, generate 

renewable energy and are healthier to be in 

Indicators: see below.   

Objective 2 Carbon neutral new buildings  

Outcome: All new buildings will be energy efficient, generate renewable energy and be healthy to 
be in  

Indicators: See below.   

Objective 3 Reduce the need to travel and shift to sustainable transport options 

Outcome: Cleaner air and healthier residents that use their cars less  

Objective 4 Technology to reduce emissions from vehicles 

Outcome: Cleaner air and less pollution from vehicles  

Indicators: See below 

Objective 5 Avoid Waste   

Outcome: We all buy less and waste less 

Indicators: See below 

Objective 6 Maximise carbon storage in the environment 

Outcome: Cleaner air and water, increased biodiversity and less flooding in Torbay  

Indicators: See below  

 

Objective 7 Transition our power sector to renewables  

Outcome: Local energy generation with residents and businesses less susceptible to future global  

energy shocks and price volatility  

Indicators: See below  

Objective 8 Support businesses to transition to carbon neutral   

Outcome: Businesses that are energy, water and waste efficient  

Indicators: See below  

Objective 9 Build a climate resilient Torbay   

Outcome: Torbay is prepared for a changing climate and can recover quickly from future events 

Indicators: See below  

Objective 10 Communicate action to tackle climate change locally  
Page 74



  

42 

Outcome: Residents and businesses adopting more sustainable, low carbon lifestyles.  

Indicators: See below  

To ensure we can track progress against the objectives and outcomes of this plan, a set of interim 

indicators are being established. The University of Exeter have is developing these for use in this 

plan, and subsequent plans, all the way up to 2030. 

Table 2 below will be developed with a range of indicators and interim targets. We will publish 

these in January 2023 as an addendum to this draft.  

 

Vision  Indicator 2019 baseline  Source 

Carbon Neutral 2030 Area-wide 
territorial 
emissions 
(tC02e) 

437,000 (tC02e) University of Exeter  

Objectives  Indicator 2019 baseline  Source 

High take-up of energy-
efficiency measures, 
renewable energy and low-
carbon heating technologies 
in all homes and business 
premises 

Homes 
supported 
through local 
government 
funded schemes  

119 homes (£884k) 
LAD 2 (Heat Devon) 
(2021/22)  

Devon County 
Council/delivery 
partners  

High take-up of energy-
efficiency measures, 
renewable energy and low-
carbon heating technologies 
in all homes and business 
premises 

Number of local 
advice provided  

115 in depth 
assessments, 17 
Clients and 217 
people Q2 2022 

Exeter Community 
Energy  

High take-up of energy-
efficiency measures, 
renewable energy and low-
carbon heating technologies 
in all homes and business 
premises 

Number of 
Devon’s homes 
with an Energy 
Performance 
Certificate of D 
– G 

 

 LUHC 
(2022) Energy 
Performance of 
Buildings Data 
England and Wales. 
Available 
at: https://epc.opend
atacommunities.org 

  Torbay's energy 
consumption  

  BEIS 
(2021), Estimates of 
total final energy 
consumption from 
2005 to 2019 at a 
country, regional 
and  local authority 
level. Available 
at: Total final energy 
consumption 

Page 75

https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2019


  

43 

 Others - to 
follow as an 
addendum 

  

Carbon neutral new buildings 
(planning) 

To follow as an 
addendum  

    

Reduce the need to travel and 
shift to sustainable transport 
options 

To follow as an 
addendum  

    

Use technology to reduce 
emissions from vehicles 

To follow as an 
addendum 

    

 Avoid waste Residual 
household 
waste per 
household  

124.28 kg Local Data  

  Percentage of 
household 
waste that is 
sent for reuse, 
recycling, or 
composting 

37% Q 2 2022 Local Data  

 Others – to 
follow as an 
addendum 

  

Maximise natural carbon 
storage in the environment 

To follow as an 
addendum  

    

Transition our power sector 
to renewables  

To follow as an 
addendum  

    

Support businesses to 
transition to carbon neutral 

To follow as an 
addendum  

    

Build a climate resilient 
Torbay 

To follow as an 
addendum  

    

Communicate action to tackle 
climate change locally 

To follow as an 
addendum  

    

 

Table 2. developing monitoring plan    

 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

44 

 

This document can be made available in other languages and formats. 

For more information, please contact future.planning@torbay.gov.uk 

Page 77



Document is Restricted

Page 78

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 82

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 88

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Climate Change Emergency Update
	Climate Update Appendix 1 Sustainability Checklist (Major Development)
	Climate Update Appendix 2 Torbay Climate Emergecy Action Plan Consultation Draft 2022

	7 Delivery of Capital Projects
	Capital Programme RAG Status_V1.0
	Capital Programme RAG Status_V1.0 App


